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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: We have a

          3  practice in the Committee on Aging when we hold our

          4  hearings, we have a practice of starting on time so

          5  that we respect the fact that you have come on time,

          6  and we want to hear from as many people as want to

          7  speak before the moon rises, so I am calling the

          8  meeting to order, even though we have got three

          9  minutes ahead of time. I take the responsibility.

         10                 I want to start the meeting first by

         11  saying that two of our Committee members are not

         12  here, Lucy Cruz is ill, and Mr. Lasher is detained

         13  out of town and he found impossible to reach the

         14  hearing, he won't be in New York until tonight. So,

         15  we make allowances for those two absentees.

         16                 I am joined by my colleague Michael

         17  Abel, from Queens, and hopefully the rest of the

         18  Committee will join us, they usually come in after

         19  the hearing has begun. So, we will start and get the

         20  show on the road.

         21                 The hearing that we are going to have

         22  today of course is on the Naturally Occurring

         23  Retirement Communities, and the contributions that

         24  have been made, we know can be made, that we hope

         25  will be made in the City of New York for people who
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          2  are aging in place.

          3                 I am not going to make a speech to

          4  you because I do believe you must all have some idea

          5  of what NORCs are, and I don't have to be redundant,

          6  you have enough expertise in the audience. So, I am

          7  going to call our first witness who is Karen Taylor,

          8  who is from the Department for the Aging to start

          9  the afternoon's program.

         10                 Would you please.

         11                 MS. TAYLOR: Good afternoon. I am

         12  Karen Taylor, Director of Senior Housing Initiatives

         13  of the New York City Department for the Aging. On

         14  behalf of Commissioner Stupp, I would like to thank

         15  this Committee for inviting us to testify at this

         16  hearing on Naturally Occurring Retirement

         17  Communities, or NORCs.

         18                 As you know, Mayor Guiliani considers

         19  services for the City's elderly to be among his

         20  highest priorities and recognizes the importance of

         21  programs to protect and enhance the quality of life

         22  for older New Yorkers.

         23                 I serve as DFTA's representative on

         24  the advisory committee to the New York State, NORC

         25  supportive service program, and have the pleasure of
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          2  hosting and participating in bi-monthly meetings of

          3  the Statewide Coalition of NORC program directors

          4  and coordinators.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Excuse me. Can

          6  I ask you to just for one moment, would you be good

          7  enough, sir, and Katherine, to take some of these

          8  many chairs that are along the wall here and make

          9  them available to people who are standing? You know,

         10  we have a whole lot of chairs here that don't belong

         11  here so that people can come into the room and sit.

         12                 Please come into the room and find

         13  seats, they are along the wall here.  Thank you.

         14                 I am sorry. Would you please resume?

         15                 MS. TAYLOR: I am just going to repeat

         16  the last sentence.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Sure.

         18                 MS. TAYLOR: I serve as DFTA's

         19  representative on the advisory committee to the New

         20  York State supportive service, NORC supportive

         21  service program, and do have the pleasure of usually

         22  hosting and participating in bi-monthly meetings of

         23  a statewide coalition of NORC program directors and

         24  coordinators.

         25                 In addition, from 1994 to '96, the
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          2  Department was the recipient of a two-year grant

          3  from the Administration on Aging to develop the

          4  supportive service project, demonstration project at

          5  Vladick Houses, a low-income public housing NORC on

          6  Manhattan Lower East Side.

          7                 This project was implemented in

          8  conjunction with Henry Street Settlement and the New

          9  York City Housing Authority.

         10                 For the benefit -- actually I think

         11  most people here know what the definition of a NORC

         12  is, so as a refresher, it used to be for the benefit

         13  of those who don't know, for a refresher, the term

         14  generally refers to a multifamily building complex

         15  or neighborhood which was not designed specifically

         16  for elder living, in which about 50 percent more of

         17  the residents are 60 years old.

         18                 Aside from this definition, there is

         19  no other generalization that can be made that

         20  applies to all NORCs. They are not senior housing,

         21  nor traditional retirement communities, nor housing

         22  that can be built, and a NORC in itself is not a

         23  program, it is simply a phenomenon that has evolved

         24  naturally, emphasizing the fact that most elderly

         25  really want to age in place, and providing a number
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          2  of opportunities and challenges for the aging

          3  network to help them do so.

          4                 In New York NORCs have emerged

          5  primarily as a result of people remaining in their

          6  housing of many years due to social economic and

          7  practical considerations. Many elderly live on fixed

          8  incomes, and find it difficult to find alternative

          9  affordable housing in one of the most extensive real

         10  estate markets in the country.

         11                 That fact, coupled with the financial

         12  stability that rent regulation has afforded many

         13  elderly provides a strong incentive for remaining in

         14  one's own home.

         15                 For some elderly aging in place is

         16  possible due to the support of family and friends.

         17  Others may need additional support from benefits and

         18  entitlement service providers and community

         19  services.

         20                 New York City has many attributes

         21  that encourage seniors to stay in their communities.

         22  Extensive public transportation, cultural

         23  activities, neighborhood amenities, social contacts

         24  in one's own building or complex, and a rich network

         25  of community-based services, many of which are
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          2  funded and/or provided by the Department for the

          3  Aging.

          4                 Community-based services reach many

          5  elderly who are living in NORCs or in neighborhoods

          6  with a growing percentage of households that have

          7  aged-in over the years, these services include

          8  congregate and home-delivered meals, care

          9  management, in-home services, transportation, home

         10  repair, senior centers, volunteer opportunities and

         11  other services.

         12                 In 1994, New York State Legislature

         13  enacted the NORC supportive service program, and I

         14  quote, "to help address the needs of NORC residents,

         15  assure access to a variety of necessary services

         16  that would help them maintain their independence,

         17  improve their quality of life and avoid the

         18  unnecessary hospital and nursing home stays."

         19                 The State Office for the Aging was

         20  designated to administer it. The program required a

         21  match from the applicant equal to the State grant,

         22  25 percent of which had come from the housing

         23  entity. Waivers for this match were given in the

         24  case of hardship, such as with low-income public

         25  housing.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 In 1994/'95, State Fiscal Year, the

          3  State budget included $1 million to initiate the

          4  demonstration program, which was awarded through an

          5  RFP process to ten NORCs statewide, eight of which

          6  were in New York City.

          7                 The program started late in the first

          8  year of the program, actually in January of '95, so

          9  $500,000 was included in the next eight-year budget

         10  to continue these contracts.

         11                 In each of state fiscal years '97 and

         12  '98, the State budget included 1.2 million to

         13  support the existing ten programs statewide, plus

         14  four additional programs, each funded at $50,000.

         15  All four of the additional locations were in New

         16  York City, three of which are in Queens.

         17                 The State budget for State Fiscal

         18  Year '99 reverted back to the original $1 million

         19  appropriation to continue the program started by the

         20  original grantees. However, residual program funds

         21  were later identified according to the State Office

         22  for the Aging, and used to also continue the four

         23  newer programs until the end of the year.

         24                 The executive budget for the Year

         25  2000, the executive state fiscal year budget for the
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          2  Year 2000 contains 1.2 million to continue all of

          3  the programs at current funding levels.

          4                 In 1997 the state issued a program

          5  report on the first two years of the NORC

          6  demonstration project.

          7                 By that time the NORC supportive

          8  service programs were collectively providing over

          9  350,000 units of service to the elderly residents,

         10  including care management, group service, service

         11  coordination, counseling, nursing services and a

         12  host of others. The state is currently preparing an

         13  updated service report.

         14                 The sunset at this time on the

         15  authorizing legislation is December 31st, 1999. The

         16  Advisory Committee has made recommendations to make

         17  the program a permanent part of the state budget,

         18  and to expand the program eligibility as well beyond

         19  the original applicant requirements.

         20                 In New York City, while AARP

         21  estimates that about 27 percent of Americans over

         22  the age of 60 live in naturally occurring retirement

         23  communities across the country, based on that

         24  percentage we have estimated that in New York City

         25  there are approximately 324,000 elderly in New York
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          2  living in buildings or complexes that fit the

          3  definition of NORCs.

          4                 In New York City there are now 12

          5  state-funded programs serving NORCs, two located in

          6  public housing, the rest in large, mostly in large

          7  middle income cooperative apartment buildings.

          8  Working in close cooperation with existing service

          9  agencies, these programs offer access to a wide

         10  range of publicly subsidized and private pay

         11  services.

         12                 Service programs vary greatly, due to

         13  the diversity of NORC populations in buildings and

         14  the different types of management. There are also

         15  several supportive service programs in NORCs that do

         16  not receive funds from the state, and certainly

         17  there are many NORCs throughout the City yet to be

         18  identified.

         19                 The growing number of elderly who

         20  live in NORCs highlight the challenges and

         21  opportunities inherent in this phenomenon. Since

         22  NORCs are in housing complexes or communities that

         23  were not originally designed for aging in place,

         24  they may lack physical accommodations for the

         25  elderly. Others may have a high rate of older people
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          2  living alone with very low incomes or with

          3  deteriorating housing. However, the opportunities

          4  that NORCs provide include potential economies of

          5  scale in delivering services, that ability to more

          6  effectively target outreach activities and services,

          7  due to the concentration of older residents, and to

          8  locate certain services in the housing itself where

          9  elderly residents can easily access them when

         10  needed.

         11                 I think in the testimony that

         12  follows, you will hear testimony that eloquently

         13  illustrates the NORC experience and the development

         14  of the state program and the real benefit that

         15  supportive services can bring to those aging in

         16  place in Naturally Occurring Retirement Communities.

         17                 Thank you very much for the

         18  opportunity to speak today.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are very

         20  welcome.

         21                 I just have a question, if you don't

         22  mind. You indicate 324,000 elderly in New York City

         23  are estimated to be living in buildings or complexes

         24  that fit the definition, that is Citywide? The

         25  estimate is based on a Citywide survey?
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          2                 MS. TAYLOR: Yes. And it is only

          3  extrapolated from the AARP data.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It is not that

          5  reliable then?

          6                 MS. TAYLOR: It is probably outdated.

          7  It may have been reliable at one time but it is

          8  probably outdated and needs another look.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes, I would

         10  think so, because given the increasing numbers of

         11  old persons who are aging in our City and certainly

         12  don't have that much option to move their home from

         13  one place to another because there is not anywhere

         14  to go, I would expect that the number would be much

         15  larger than the 24,000.

         16                 MS. TAYLOR: I also think the

         17  definition of NORCs over time may become more

         18  inclusive as well. So, yes, I imagine that number

         19  will grow.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Does anybody

         21  have questions?

         22                 Yes, Michael.

         23                 Council Member Abel has a question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ABEL: Thank you.

         25                 Would you know the locations of those
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          2  four new sites in the State Program?

          3                 MS. TAYLOR: Yes.

          4                 The four new sites, in Manhattan it

          5  is Vladick Houses, on the lower east side. In

          6  Queens there is Big 6 Towers. I don't have the

          7  actual addresses, but I can tell you where they are.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, we will

          9  probably know.

         10                 MS. TAYLOR: Big 6 Towers, Clearview

         11  Gardens and Queensview and North Queensview, which

         12  are combined for funding purposes as one NORC.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: What about

         14  Rochdale? Somebody was mentioning that that was in

         15  development, does anybody have --

         16                 MS. TAYLOR: It is not currently a

         17  state-funded NORC, but, again, I think you will hear

         18  testimony later that will touch on those.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         20                 I wanted to introduce Council Member

         21  Karen Koslowitz who has joined us, she is a member

         22  of the Committee as well.

         23                 Any other questions?

         24                 Karen, do you have anything to ask?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOSLOWITZ: No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          3                 If not, then I want to thank you, and

          4  I won't keep you in the chair much longer, we have a

          5  long list of speakers who want to take advantage of

          6  it.

          7                 In the meantime, Michael, I ask that

          8  you read this into the record for me, please.

          9                 We have a communication which was

         10  received that has been asking to go into the record

         11  and I would like to have it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ABEL: This is from the

         13  New York Citizens Committee on Aging.

         14                 Dear Ms. Harrison, in our February

         15  13th letter, we referred to our interest in your

         16  Committee's upcoming hearing on Naturally Occurring

         17  Retirement Communities. Because of the eminence of

         18  the hearing and because we do not have testimony

         19  prepared, we wanted to make a point which we assume

         20  others will also make for the record.

         21                 It is in fact a proposal you heard

         22  when you addressed our Committee on February the

         23  9th. We understand the NORCs are controlled by state

         24  law and that there are limited number of them in

         25  deference to the experimental nature of the program
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          2  and the limited financing currently available.

          3                 It is the strong feeling of the New

          4  York Citizens Committee on Aging that the statute

          5  which created NORCs was narrow in scope and that

          6  those organizations which gave leadership to the

          7  proposal which eventually became law were in fact

          8  interested in their own housing developments.

          9                 While the leadership of these

         10  organizations must not be questioned, we applaud

         11  their ability to get the law enacted. It is our view

         12  that the law has produced the anomaly of those older

         13  persons and neighborhoods who need the services a

         14  NORC can provide, at least as much are by definition

         15  not eligible for funding.

         16                 We therefore propose that the statute

         17  be amended or companion law be passed that makes any

         18  neighborhood with a high density of older persons

         19  eligible for the same services now provided by

         20  NORCs.

         21                 Our purpose in writing to you is to

         22  get this thought on the record and to solicit your

         23  advocacy and that of your committee for this

         24  proposal, first in the City Council and then in the

         25  Legislature.
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          2                 We would appreciate it if this letter

          3  can be a part of the record at your hearing. We will

          4  be happy to elaborate on our suggestion at some

          5  later date.

          6                 Sincerely Jerry A. Schroeder,

          7  Executive Director.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It is properly

          9  noted and a part of the record and we will be

         10  responding to the communicant. And thank you.

         11                 The next witness would be Anita

         12  Altman, please, from UJA Federation.

         13                 And let me just say that we have

         14  empty chairs around the table here and if folks want

         15  to sit down, you are perfectly welcome to sit down.

         16  Come on over here and sit down. Don't be bashful. I

         17  don't want to have any fire hazards. Sit, please.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 First you have to introduce yourself,

         20  please, for the record. Thank you.

         21                 MS. ALTMAN: Hi. Am I on?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes, you are.

         23                 MS. ALTMAN: I am Anita Altman and I

         24  am the Assistant Executive Director of Resource

         25  Development at UJA Federation of New York.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And let me also

          3  introduce Council Member Tom White who came to join

          4  us from the Borough of Queens. And set those up in

          5  front, okay, honey?

          6                 MS. ALTMAN: Hi. I am sorry for the

          7  disruption but actually the questions that you asked

          8  of Karen Taylor, while this in no way is a

          9  definitive identification, we believe, and I will go

         10  into a further explanation of what these maps are,

         11  that they in fact indicate very graphically the

         12  aging-in the population of New York City.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: So, have you

         14  come to any conclusion as to what numbers of persons

         15  all of these little red dots represent?

         16                 MS. ALTMAN: Yes. There are 350,000 of

         17  them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: So, you have

         19  increased it by 25,000 just in the course of

         20  changing chairs.

         21                 MS. ALTMAN: Right. Now, the thing is

         22  that this, in fact, the only census information that

         23  we have is from 1990, so all of this, you know, we

         24  have, but these maps, as I will explain, are

         25  indicators. And at least are worthy of much further
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          2  discussion.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Than they will

          4  have here today, unfortunately. But we will make

          5  reference to them.

          6                 MS. ALTMAN: All right.

          7                 I am obviously delighted to be here

          8  again appearing before the City Council's Committee

          9  on Aging to speak about Naturally Occurring

         10  Retirement Communities. At last spring's NORC

         11  hearing, this Committee heard testimony from a broad

         12  group of advocates and providers who used their time

         13  to help introduce the concept as this demographic

         14  phenomenon and the effective and sufficient support

         15  service program model which was developed to respond

         16  to the challenges it poses.

         17                 Programs are flourishing at more than

         18  12 sites in New York City, which are funded in part

         19  by New York State.

         20                 Last year we came to this City to ask

         21  the City to establish its own NORC supportive

         22  service program and to provide a funding stream to

         23  help expand services at established programs, as

         24  well as to fund initiatives at new sites.

         25                 Rather than review the information
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          2  which was presented last year, and actually which is

          3  appended in some format to the back of my testimony,

          4  I thought it would be more productive to share with

          5  you the results of an exciting mapping project which

          6  UJA-Federation commissioned from the New York Public

          7  Interest Research Group, NYPIRG, and which

          8  graphically illustrates the intensity of the

          9  aging-in place phenomenon which characterizes so

         10  many of our City's neighborhoods.

         11                 Unfortunately, the most current

         12  detailed census data comes from the 1990 census, so

         13  none of what I will present is precise, rather it is

         14  meant to give you an indicator of the extent of the

         15  phenomenon, as well as to provide local data which

         16  can be used as a jumping off point for further

         17  inquiry.

         18                 NYPIRG was asked to identify those

         19  census block groups which in 1990 had 50 percent or

         20  more of households that were headed back in 1990 by

         21  people who were 55 years and above.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I would say

         23  we've got the measles. Really look at that.

         24                 MS. ALTMAN: Look at Queens.

         25                 The produced maps of all five
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          2  boroughs, which are shown with Councilmanic district

          3  lines. Each star represents one qualifying census

          4  block group and we have the back-up data indicating

          5  the gross numbers per block group.

          6                 I would say the visuals are pretty

          7  stunning. It's not so, you know, stunning in black

          8  and white but --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, it's very

         10  impressive.

         11                 MS. ALTMAN: Right.

         12                 Queens not only has the highest

         13  concentration of seniors, but according to this

         14  data, well over 100,000 Queens seniors live in

         15  NORCs. Almost every district is well represented by

         16  them.

         17                 By extrapolation we believe all total

         18  that Citywide there are at least 350,000 seniors,

         19  about 27 percent and it is pretty consistent with

         20  the national numbers.

         21                 NYPIRG has mapped over 460 NORCs in

         22  New York City, that is a counting of all of those

         23  little stars. While some are too small to be

         24  meaningful to program development, others do seem

         25  right for further exploration.
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          2                 I brought the maps and I hope I gave

          3  them to the woman. There is for each of you who are

          4  members of the Aging Committee, I asked NYPIRG to do

          5  a blow-up of your district so that you would have

          6  the precise location and also the back-up data that

          7  goes with it.

          8                 My hope is that they, as well as all

          9  our other maps, can be put to excellent use by the

         10  City's aging service planners, as well as those of

         11  us who are advocates to the needs of seniors.

         12                 UJA-Federation is concerned with the

         13  wellbeing of all of New York City's elderly and

         14  wants to share this material with whoever may find

         15  it useful in developing senior services.

         16                 Our NORC coalition, which is made up

         17  of NORC service providers, these people behind us.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, really?

         19                 MS. ALTMAN: Yes.

         20                 Housing management and boards, senior

         21  advocates and supportive service program members

         22  recently came together to develop our own proposal

         23  to you, what we would like to see in a City NORC

         24  supportive services program.

         25                 We agreed that funding should be made
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          2  available to both augment and enrich services in the

          3  existing programs, as well as to fund the

          4  development of many more new NORC supportive service

          5  program sites.

          6                 We propose that the City allocate $4

          7  million for programs, with 40 percent allocated for

          8  existing programs and 60 percent for new ones.

          9                 We urge the continuation of the

         10  public/private partnership as practiced in the state

         11  program which limits the state's participation to a

         12  maximum of 50 percent, requiring a housing company's

         13  match of a minimum of 25 percent towards that, with

         14  the remainder to be developed from other sources.

         15                 However, this matching requirement in

         16  the state legislation, and we would propose to the

         17  City as well, is not applicable to low-income

         18  housing developments. Currently two of the 12 NORC

         19  supportive sites are in New York City Housing

         20  Authority projects. We know that many more qualify.

         21  We actually have the data.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Queensview, yet

         23  West is one which is the other --

         24                 MS. ALTMAN: There are many. I don't

         25  have the list with me but they are easily obtainable
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          2  and can be sent to you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think your

          4  question was, you said there were two in NYCHA,

          5  right?

          6                 MS. ALTMAN: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Those two are?

          8                 MS. ALTMAN: Vladick and Stanley

          9  Isaacs.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, and Stanley

         11  Isaac's?

         12                 MS. ALTMAN: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Did you mention

         14  Queensview -- oh, that i a co-op.

         15                 MS. ALTMAN: A co-op, right. That's a

         16  moderate income co-op.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         18                 MS. ALTMAN: All of the others are in

         19  moderate income cooperatives.

         20                 We know that many more qualify in the

         21  housing, in the NYCHA system, and the needs of the

         22  residents there are substantial. We hope that more

         23  Housing Authority sites will be developed and that

         24  we can get the Housing Authority on board.

         25                 We drew heavily from our collective
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          2  experience in the last four and a half years of the

          3  state-funded program and identified areas actually

          4  that we proposed to be modified, and which we will

          5  also be conveying to the state.

          6                 For new programs, a NORC currently

          7  under state definition is 50 percent or more. We

          8  recommend that it should be defined as a building or

          9  housing constructed with government assistance, not

         10  specifically built for the elderly where 45 percent

         11  or more have households headed by individuals of 60

         12  years or older, so we would drop the threshold level

         13  a bit.

         14                 In order to maintain program

         15  stability, we believe that the threshold level

         16  should be reduced to 40 percent for the existing

         17  NORC programs. Over time clearly these programs

         18  continue to age and people do die, and while there

         19  is usually a cohort moving up, we would hate for

         20  that break to sort of abruptly stop financing of a

         21  program. Whether you have, you know, 45 percent or

         22  50 percent and you drop to 40 percent it is still an

         23  intense need for services.

         24                 At the same time, we recognize that

         25  there may be new as yet unthought of approaches to
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          2  service delivery for seniors living in significant

          3  concentrations, such as what you will hear, I

          4  believe it will be discussed later on, an open NORC

          5  concept of neighborhoods.

          6                 Though they may not entirely meet the

          7  current definition, rather than preclude a program's

          8  participation, we propose that the Commissioner of

          9  Aging be given discretionary grant making authority,

         10  for no more than ten percent of the City's NORC

         11  fund, so that the DFTA commissioner would have the

         12  opportunity if in fact it makes good programmatic

         13  sense, there are high concentrations, to not

         14  necessarily have to meet all of the definitional

         15  requirements we have laid out.

         16                 We have learned that a NORC

         17  supportive service program needs more than a single

         18  social worker in order to even begin to address the

         19  many complex needs of seniors living in these

         20  significant concentrations, we therefore propose

         21  that a minimum City grant be $75,000 -- right now

         22  the minimum for the State is 50 -- with a maximum

         23  level of $200,000.  The State's current max is 150.

         24                 The State Office on Aging, in

         25  conjunction with NORC program directors, has
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          2  developed an extensive and substantial program and

          3  fiscal report.

          4                 Rather than burden programs with

          5  unnecessary and duplicative reporting, we urge that

          6  the City's reporting requirements be consistent with

          7  those already established by the State.

          8                 We also urge that a New York City

          9  NORC advisory committee be established to meet with

         10  and advise the Commissioner of DFTA about evolving

         11  program needs and issues. The State has a comparable

         12  entity in which both Nat Yalowitz, who you will also

         13  hear from soon, and I both sit. And I know that the

         14  SOFA Commissioner and other Committee members have

         15  felt that this has been a very important vehicle.

         16                 This year we have a great opportunity

         17  to begin to meet the major challenges posed by this

         18  rapid aging-in of our great City.

         19                 We, in New York City, have pioneered

         20  the development of a creative and effective service

         21  model that truly is assisting thousands of seniors

         22  to life more fulfilling and secure lives exactly

         23  where they want to be, in their own homes.

         24                 As you see from my maps, there are

         25  many more NORC communities which can benefit from
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          2  this wonderful program. What limits them is what you

          3  can provide; namely, the funding and the commitment

          4  of this City to help make it happen.

          5                 We want to thank this Council's Aging

          6  Committee, and particularly as Chair, Julia

          7  Harrison, who has, with the Committee, since the

          8  1995 Mini White House Conference on Aging, focused

          9  on NORCs, as well as last spring's NORC hearing,

         10  helped to elevate the consciousness of both the

         11  public and our local elected officials about this

         12  phenomenon and the opportunity to address it with

         13  this program.

         14                 With the leadership of our Council

         15  Speaker Peter Vallone, we believe that this is the

         16  year that New York City will establish its own NORC

         17  supported service program.

         18                 Please be assured that we at

         19  UJA-Federation, as well as all of the members of our

         20  NORC Coalition, are not only thrilled, but anxious

         21  to roll up our sleeves and to work closely with the

         22  Council and DFTA to make this program a shining

         23  example of what we New Yorkers are capable of

         24  providing for our senior generation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And I thank you
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          2  very much for this splendid report.

          3                 Before we go any further, I want to

          4  introduce a colleague, Council Member Phillip Reed,

          5  from Manhattan. And also indicate that he has a

          6  question to ask you.

          7                 MS. ALTMAN: He is my Council member.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Did I not

          9  introduce you, Council Member?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: You did.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I did.

         12                 Phillip.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you,

         14  Madame Chair. It's always a pleasure to see you and

         15  to be encouraged by this information and certainly

         16  now you have made it impossible for any of us --

         17                 MS. ALTMAN: To avoid it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: To avoid it,

         19  right. It's something I have been excited about

         20  trying to do that in my first year. There have been

         21  enough projects to absorb my attention but this is

         22  something that I have been wanting to look at.

         23                 Recently I had again a situation

         24  brought to my attention and I have been looking to

         25  see if my staff person has been able to come in, I
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          2  think he is on the phone about it right now, but we

          3  have in the Eighth Council District, I think more

          4  NYCHA developments than any other district, there

          5  are 18 NYCHA-funded programs, developments there. A

          6  significant number of them obviously have senior

          7  citizens, and I was just looking at the map, a very

          8  cursory map, to see if I can identify some of them

          9  already.

         10                 One of the problems that has come up,

         11  and I suspect some of my colleagues have had this,

         12  we are dealing with a particular situation right now

         13  where we have a constituent who, the only word I can

         14  use is being forced, she is being forced essentially

         15  to move out of a larger apartment into a smaller

         16  apartment in NYCHA. In other words, they are asking

         17  her to move out of her three-bedroom apartment into

         18  a one-bedroom apartment.

         19                 MS. ALTMAN: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And there are

         21  some other issues. It has actually bordered on

         22  intimidation. We are trying to negotiate with NYCHA

         23  about this.

         24                 I have a lot of different feelings

         25  about asking seniors to move into smaller sized
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          2  apartments, many people want to do that, some don't.

          3  The urgency for the need for housing for everybody

          4  here in the City is immense.

          5                 You say that you are working with

          6  NYCHA in two developments, so if I am looking --

          7                 MS. ALTMAN: There are two --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That NORCs are

          9  in two of these.

         10                 MS. ALTMAN: Right, that there are

         11  two.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But before I

         13  would be able to really get into this, I would have

         14  to look at what the approach is and find out what

         15  your sense, perhaps your agency, or other people

         16  that testify, is about this issue that is fairly

         17  enormous about trying to match the size of the units

         18  with the families. So that what we have in this

         19  particular development, Frederick Douglass, I have

         20  one woman right now, as I said, that I am dealing

         21  with.

         22                 MS. ALTMAN: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I know there are

         24  15 or 20 that I can name that are having the same

         25  problem, living in a larger apartment.
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          2                 So, within the scope of NORC, what

          3  are we looking at trying to do? Because before you

          4  get management to agree to help you with these

          5  programs, we are also going to have to address some

          6  of those concerns.

          7                 MS. ALTMAN: Well, you know, I am not

          8  a program director, I would assume that, you know, a

          9  program would want to ensure that, you know, the

         10  resident has whatever, understands what her or his

         11  rights are, and, you know, this is not -- the kinds

         12  of services and the program itself, and I am hoping

         13  that Beverly Jackson from Stanley Isaacs who is

         14  scheduled to speak who is actually on site and doing

         15  the work can really more appropriately address it.

         16                 I know that this is an issue that the

         17  programs, you know, have by and large been dealing

         18  with. They are dealing with issues of case

         19  management needs, but you know entitlements, trying

         20  to secure services, I would think that in

         21  association --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I guess I am

         23  trying to put you on the spot and see what you feel

         24  about the issue.

         25                 MS. ALTMAN: Well, you know, it's a
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          2  real dilemma because there are a lot of large

          3  families that are desperate for space and, you know,

          4  the question that I would have is, is that person

          5  who is currently in that apartment getting all of

          6  her or his -- is it being done in a legal manner,

          7  you know? Is it being coercive or is there a

          8  negotiation going on?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: We are

         10  addressing that. I have you on the spot here so I am

         11  keeping you there for the moment. And anybody else

         12  that testifies because it is the issue in my

         13  district with seniors.

         14                 MS. ALTMAN: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And it is a very

         16  difficult issue.

         17                 My personal experience, my aunt was

         18  glad to give up her house and move into a

         19  one-bedroom apartment.

         20                 MS. ALTMAN: Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Other people

         22  aren't. How do we look at these issues?

         23                 MS. ALTMAN: I think it is a very

         24  scarce resource. I think housing is a very scarce

         25  resource and, you know, my own personal, and now I
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          2  cannot say that I am speaking on behalf of

          3  UJA-Federation, but you know, my own would be that I

          4  would try whatever way to try and encourage, you

          5  know, and sweeten the encouragement to have that

          6  person transfer an apartment within the project. I

          7  wouldn't want -- it would be within the project, so

          8  that the neighborhood would continue to remain

          9  familiar. But I think these are scarce resources.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay, I would

         12  like to thank you, and I would like to introduce

         13  Council Member Tracy Boyland from Brooklyn who has

         14  just joined us, and call on the next panel of

         15  witnesses, Mr. Harold Vandermalle and Mr. Nat

         16  Yalowitz, if you would both sit down at the table,

         17  if you can find where to sit. Perhaps you can move

         18  this thing away so I can see you. Slant it down.

         19  Like that. That's good, okay, thank you.

         20                 Okay, would you both introduce

         21  yourselves for the record so that it goes onto the

         22  machine and then however you like, make your

         23  presentation.

         24                 Push the button first, or you will

         25  never be heard. If the light is off, you are on.
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          2                 MR. YALOWITZ: The light is off, and I

          3  thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you. Now

          5  please proceed.

          6                 MR. YALOWITZ: My name is Nat

          7  Yalowitz, and I represent the Penn South Program for

          8  Seniors at Penn South, and I am very pleased to be

          9  here again before this Committee, as I appeared last

         10  year, in the participation of the City of New York

         11  in developing much needed legislation and funding of

         12  NORC supportive services programs.

         13                 New York City is the historic

         14  founding place for these programs. New York State

         15  has 14 such programs, 12 in New York City, with

         16  three of the original programs starting in Brooklyn

         17  and Manhattan, one in Brooklyn and two in Manhattan.

         18                 At Penn South Cooperative, also known

         19  as Mutual Redevelopment Houses, we have the first

         20  and model program called Penn South Programs for

         21  Seniors. There is much history through all of our

         22  programs and much that can be learned from them.

         23                 The New York State Coalition for NORC

         24  programs, several of whose leaders are here today,

         25  including myself, have been the moving force behind
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          2  our state and Citywide efforts. Much of what I will

          3  offer is based on the need to build on the State

          4  experience, to suggest changes where those are

          5  needed, to keep in strength in what we are doing,

          6  which makes sense, and to try some new approaches as

          7  a means of developing more flexibility in meeting

          8  the needs of senior citizens and intergenerational

          9  communities.

         10                 Most of the State legislation for

         11  NORC supportive service programs continues to be

         12  appropriate and useful in my judgment.

         13                 The age of 60 years to determine the

         14  age of seniors and many other criteria for

         15  consideration of housing communities for state

         16  funding are still acceptable.

         17                 In some few instances, we would like

         18  to make some changes as follows.

         19                 Firstly, I believe strongly in the

         20  need for the growth of new programs and the

         21  strengthening of existing programs. On this basis I

         22  urge the Council place more emphasis in City

         23  legislation that would consider on funding new

         24  programs and that of old programs.

         25                 Sixty percent of funding should be
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          2  for new programs, 40 percent for existing programs.

          3                 We are presently, for example,

          4  working with two housing developments, Rochdale

          5  Village in Queens, as well as some co-ops on the

          6  west side of Manhattan, five of them, in developing

          7  new supportive service programs.

          8                 I also urge that there be a minimum

          9  grant of not less than $75,000 to permit the

         10  beginning organization of a comprehensive program of

         11  services to seniors.

         12                 For existing programs funded by the

         13  State at less than that amount, I would urge the

         14  City to make them whole and more appropriate to

         15  their tasks by bringing them up to the $75,000

         16  threshold.

         17                 I think you heard Anita Altman say

         18  that some of the programs, existing programs have

         19  only one staff member.

         20                 Now, when you have only one staff

         21  member, that person is busy making referrals all

         22  over the place, and he or she is referring to

         23  organizations and agencies that already have long

         24  waiting lists. The beauty of NORC supportive

         25  programs is that they provide services,
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          2  comprehensive services on site.

          3                 Rather than continue to use the State

          4  numbers of seniors as a percentage of seniors in the

          5  housing population, as a basis for public funding in

          6  the present state legislation, we would urge that

          7  the percentage be lowered in the City legislation,

          8  to 45 percent of the housing units involving

          9  seniors, or 750 total population of seniors.

         10                 Third, we urge that the City

         11  reporting forms and reports to be done be as close

         12  as possible to the existing state forms and reports,

         13  so as to cut down on paperwork. I think you know

         14  that when you have to fill out reports to different

         15  agencies, that staff pretty soon begin to be

         16  involved only in filling out reports, and so we urge

         17  that the City, in considering a reporting process,

         18  take a look at the existing state forms and see what

         19  can be used right there.

         20                 We urge that the programs and

         21  services place some emphasis on the need for

         22  intergenerational programs, since NORCs are by

         23  definition many seniors living among younger

         24  families.

         25                 We urge that the sponsorship of these
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          2  programs be encouraged to include, if not

          3  immediately, that within one year a 501C3

          4  corporation for the housing company and that in the

          5  meantime a social agency and its 501C3 status be

          6  acceptable as the sponsor.

          7                 And by this, I just want to explain

          8  that, again, the beauty of NORC program, the

          9  critical importance of NORC programs is that they be

         10  owned by the people they serve. And in so doing,

         11  those folks in co-ops, in low housing, low-income

         12  housing, will make that program fit their need.

         13                 We suggest that a NORC be defined as

         14  a community and not necessarily as the single

         15  housing unit.

         16                 Therefore several housing units,

         17  which are close to one another and fit the overall

         18  criteria as to the number of seniors or a percentage

         19  of seniors be considered as an acceptable definition

         20  of a NORC.

         21                 In addition, it should be possible

         22  for an existing NORC supportive service program to

         23  be considered the sponsor of additional NORCs

         24  nearby, which meet the overall criteria.

         25                 Seventh, we urge that the criteria of
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          2  low-, moderate-income residents be continued as in

          3  the State legislation, and that the housing be built

          4  with public funding in the history or subsidization

          5  or tax abatement be continued.

          6                 Finally, we urge that the City follow

          7  the State legislation and include in its legislation

          8  the requirement that an advisory committee be set up

          9  by the City administering agency.

         10                 This year, 1999, has been declared by

         11  the United Nations as the International Year of

         12  Older Persons, and Harold has a button right here

         13  that says that.

         14                 What better way to celebrate this

         15  year than the New York City Council to recognize the

         16  work of its senior citizens and declare its view

         17  that NORC legislation has come to New York City.

         18                 I want to thank all of the members of

         19  the City Council Committee on Aging, and in

         20  particular, its Chair Julia Harrison, who I know has

         21  been a strong believer in NORCs, and who, with our

         22  Speaker Peter Vallone, will bring about this

         23  partnership of the City of New York, and as many

         24  present and future NORC supportive service programs

         25  which serve thousands of New Yorkers, thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are

          3  welcome. And I would like to ask if any of my

          4  colleagues want to question anyone? If not, we will

          5  proceed to you, sir.

          6                 Are you going to make a statement

          7  too?

          8                 MR. VANDERMALLE: I would very much

          9  like to.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Please be my

         11  guest.

         12                 MR. VANDERMALLE: I hope that my

         13  presence here will serve the Council, this

         14  Committee, I would like to be thought of as one kind

         15  of an example of a NORC resident.

         16                 You have heard all about proposed

         17  legislation, financing, supportive services, a lot

         18  of acronyms, et cetera, et cetera. I am 70 years

         19  old, I have been a resident of Penn South for half

         20  my life, 35 years, so I definitely have aged in

         21  place.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         23                 MR. VANDERMALLE: And as I have been

         24  aging, and as NORC came into existence, I have been

         25  exhilarated by the process.
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          2                 At this point, knock on wood, I am

          3  not in need of the supportive services, but I am

          4  very well aware of them because I am very active in

          5  the Penn South Program for seniors, such as the

          6  recipient of many of these services that NORC

          7  provides, the NORC monies.

          8                 This morning I was doing some

          9  volunteer work at our memory day care center for our

         10  adults who made a nice banana nut cake, and believe

         11  me, it is those little things that mean a lot.

         12                 Another thing that I think the

         13  younger Council members, if I may, use that term --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, there are

         15  younger members, we are not all old.

         16                 MR. VANDERMALLE: Okay.

         17                 We want you definitely involved

         18  because it is not a one-way street with us seniors.

         19  What we are doing, the able-bodied ones, is not only

         20  helping our peers who are less fortunate in helping

         21  to take use of these services, but we are

         22  outreaching to the younger people, and by that I

         23  mean the baby boomers and the grand children and

         24  what have you, that are present in our environment.

         25  It is very, very critical that you do understand
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          2  that we are giving as well as receiving, and the

          3  money, and it is always the bottom line, but it is

          4  the money that you folks can save for the City and

          5  the State by keeping us in place and allowing us to

          6  have this outreach for the younger ones that will

          7  eventually replace us. But we want to do our job. We

          8  are not a one-way street. Please understand that we

          9  are not a one-way street, and that we do really want

         10  this program to continue and expand.

         11                 End of speech.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I believe it

         13  will. I have every confidence that it will.

         14                 If there are no other comments, then

         15  we will thank you both very much.

         16                 And listen, everyone who is speaking,

         17  I want to make a statement that this is not the last

         18  you will hear from me or my committee, because I

         19  think we will get together in working sessions with

         20  people like you who have had the experience and who

         21  are knowledgeable about the operation of, and will

         22  help us develop the legislation and take the steps

         23  you are advocating. So this is not the end of our

         24  relationship, it is just the beginning, okay?

         25                 MR. YALOWITZ: We look forward to it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay, I am

          3  going to call three people up, and one person is

          4  going to have to bring a chair along.

          5                 Mark Laster, from Bay Ridge Council

          6  on Aging. Is Mark here?

          7                 MR. LASTER: Yes. I will bring my own

          8  chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are going

         10  to bring your own chair, good.

         11                 Then Celestine Smelley from Rochdale.

         12  You don't have to bring a chair, you can just move

         13  yourself.

         14                 MS. SMELLEY: Rochdale, not Rochedale.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I am used to

         16  Rochedale, I am sorry. I have been living in Queens

         17  all this time and I don't equate it with anything

         18  else. Rochdale, if you like I will change. Okay,

         19  Rochdale.

         20                 And Ed Yaker, please, from the

         21  Coordinating Council of Cooperatives.

         22                 Okay, now, will you folks please

         23  introduce yourselves in whatever order you choose,

         24  and then speak in whatever order you choose, but

         25  please speak into the microphone, so that the words
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          2  of wisdom will be on our record. Thank you.

          3                 MS. SMELLEY: Good afternoon. My name

          4  is Celestine Smelley, and I am here representing the

          5  25,000 residents of Rochdale Village in Queens.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: How many? I am

          7  sorry, I missed that.

          8                 MS. SMELLEY: Twenty-five thousand.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         10                 The second largest cooperative

         11  housing development in the world.

         12                 I am a member of the Board of

         13  Directors at the Co-op, Chairperson of the Senior

         14  Citizens Committee. I have lived in Rochdale Village

         15  for 34 years. I am here today to speak on behalf of

         16  all of my fellow cooperators, especially those who

         17  are retired senior citizens, or who are approaching

         18  that time and are planning for how and where they

         19  will live out their golden years.

         20                 In a recent survey of our cooperators

         21  we learned that our senior residents would like to

         22  remain in their co-op homes, but require the

         23  assurance that they would have access to services

         24  which facilitate a senior's reasonable quality of

         25  life.
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          2                 We have carefully examined the

          3  language of the Naturally Occurring Retirement

          4  Community legislation and endorsed it in principle.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You endorse it?

          6                 MS. SMELLEY: We endorse it in

          7  principle.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good.

          9                 MS. SMELLEY: We would like the

         10  Rochdale Village Co-op to be included in the

         11  enabling legislative language.

         12                 In the past, Rochdale has applied the

         13  State NORC Program and after approval there was no

         14  funding.

         15                 Rochdale is about to celebrate its

         16  35th year, its 35th anniversary and has indeed

         17  evolved into a Naturally Occurring Retirement

         18  Community. A staff social worker, an Are You Okay

         19  Program to call seniors each day, as well as a large

         20  lunch and activity program in conjunction with JASA,

         21  the Senior Citizens Center, are attempts by the

         22  housing company to respond. But that is not enough

         23  to fulfill the needs of our seniors as they try to

         24  continue to live in their homes among family,

         25  friends and neighbors, familiar surroundings.
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          2                 The ability to respond to the social

          3  and health issues of our residents requires serious

          4  and thoughtful planning which brings together the

          5  housing company and private groups like JASA, our

          6  seniors and government.

          7                 We thank you for your commitment to

          8  our aging population and we hope at the end of your

          9  deliberations will be the City of New York locking

         10  arms with Rochdale Village, the Board of Directors,

         11  to come to grips with the real and serious concerns.

         12  Our seniors have made it work for all of us and we

         13  thank the Council for recognizing our joint

         14  obligation and debt to this core constituency. Ours

         15  is an absolute obligation to make it possible for

         16  the senior populations to stay in their homes and in

         17  our community. We need the City's help.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You will get

         19  it.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MS. SMELLEY: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 Next.

         25                 MR. LASTER: I would like to start by
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          2  thanking the City Council Committee on Aging for

          3  inviting me to come and speak today about NORCs. My

          4  name is Mark Laster and I am a geriatric specialist

          5  working at New Hope Guild Center, which is a

          6  voluntary, non-profit, community-based human service

          7  agency providing direct mental health services to

          8  the developmentally disabled and supportive

          9  interventions to individuals and families of all

         10  ages.

         11                 New Hope Guild is a member of the Bay

         12  Ridge Council on Aging, a non-profit membership

         13  organization, instrumental in raising the

         14  community's awareness of the needs of older adults.

         15                 The Bay Ridge Council is comprised of

         16  over 30 members and I have the honor of chairing

         17  this fine organization.

         18                 My purpose in joining you today is to

         19  speak about a special project that is underway in

         20  Bay Ridge, Brooklyn.

         21                 In October of 1996, at the suggestion

         22  of the Assemblyman Jules Polonetsky, members of the

         23  Bay Ridge Council began to take a hard look at our

         24  community's demographics and growing need for aging

         25  services.
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          2                 We quickly realize that Bay Ridge is

          3  a very unique community. Let me share with you some

          4  of the local statistics from the 1990 census.

          5                 Over 25 percent of its population

          6  comprised of adults of over the age of 60, 21

          7  percent of older adults live below the poverty

          8  level, for residents over the age of 85, 52 percent

          9  have a mobility limitation and 41 percent have a

         10  personal care limitation, and in the years between

         11  the 1980 census, and the 1990 census, seniors ages

         12  85 and over living in Bay Ridge increased by 62

         13  percent.

         14                 After taking a hard look at our

         15  community we realize we have all the makings of an

         16  open NORC in our own back yard, as we have been

         17  talking about in the past, respect for the

         18  committee, while closed NORCs pertains to building

         19  or a complex of buildings, the open NORC, can

         20  involve an entire community or a neighborhood.

         21                 With this realization, and in

         22  recognition of the difficulties of navigating an

         23  extensive aging and long-term care service network,

         24  the Bay Ridge Council began to develop a system to

         25  assess our existing open NORC.
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          2                 Our goal is to create a streamline of

          3  delivery of health and social service system for the

          4  older adults in Bay Ridge, one which facilitates

          5  independence and embraces dignity.

          6                 We began our work with a smaller

          7  staff. Two of our members, Lutheran Medical Center

          8  and Metropolitan Jewish Health System, have been an

          9  assessment tool to measure and document community

         10  need for supportive services for older adults and

         11  their caregivers.

         12                 This needs assessment tool will take

         13  form of a telephone information referral line, that

         14  we named Bridge Line, because we are right by the

         15  Verrazano Bridge, which will link callers to

         16  existing social health and other supportive

         17  services.

         18                 Period assessments of the nature of

         19  calls, the types of services available, and those

         20  that are needed will be made before planning the

         21  next step of this project.

         22                 Our project in Bay Ridge is embarking

         23  on unchartered territory. Currently in New York

         24  City, a fully developed open NORC system does not

         25  exist, nor is there currently a funding source for
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          2  it.

          3                 All of the work of Bridge Line has

          4  been done for the voluntary and in-kind

          5  contributions of the member organizations and a

          6  small grant from State Senator Vincent Gentilli.

          7                 Our other elected officials are

          8  strong believers in the Bay Ridge Open NORC project,

          9  including Borough President Howard Golden,

         10  Assemblymembers Joe Millman and Adele Cohen, and our

         11  local City Councilman Marty Golden.

         12                 The New York City Department for the

         13  Aging has also been a tremendous asset, assisting us

         14  in project development and identifying potential

         15  funders.

         16                 We believe the time is right for the

         17  City to take a close look at the demographics of our

         18  neighborhood.

         19                 We strongly support increased funding

         20  for the closed NORCs, and other innovative models,

         21  like the open NORC be given fair consideration as

         22  well, and we also take note of the UFA-Federation's

         23  strong leadership in advocacy for NORCs.

         24                 We applaud the recognition by the New

         25  York City Council of the emergence of NORCs
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          2  throughout our neighborhoods. Many fine NORC

          3  projects are represented here, poised to help the

          4  Aging Committee learn.

          5                 As you look further into aging in

          6  place and NORCs, we encourage you to consider other

          7  innovative models of service delivery that embrace

          8  our communities.

          9                 On behalf of the Bay Ridge Council on

         10  Aging, we offer our assistance and support to you.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MR. LASTER: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And now you,

         16  sir.

         17                 MR. YAKER: Ed Yaker, representing the

         18  Coordinating Council of Cooperatives.  And I will

         19  apologize in advance, some of what I say is

         20  preaching to the chorus already.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Are you talking

         22  in behalf of the Bronx co-ops, or Citywide co-ops?

         23                 MR. YAKER: Citywide organizations.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         25                 MR. YAKER: The Coordinating Council

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  of Cooperatives was organized 33 years ago to

          3  provide an opportunity for leaders of our housing

          4  cooperatives to exchange information and ideas and

          5  work together for our common goals.

          6                 Our members include the largest

          7  housing cooperatives in New York City and the United

          8  States. Taken together, our member cooperatives are

          9  home to 50,000 New York families.

         10                 From the beginning of our first

         11  member cooperative in 1927, the goal of each co-op

         12  has been to provide not only quality housing at

         13  affordable costs, but to form communities in the

         14  best sense of that word.

         15                 Our co-op communities contribute to

         16  the strength of our great City.

         17                 When co-ops were first formed,

         18  families were young and community activities focused

         19  on providing a sound, enriching upbringing for

         20  children. As our cooperators age, we notice that

         21  seniors also had special needs and the co-ops could

         22  play a role in enhancing their lives.

         23                 I will add that about 50 years ago I

         24  was part of my co-op's nursery, I am now a couple of

         25  years away from our NORC program, talk about aging
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          2  in place.

          3                 Well before government funding was

          4  available, cooperatives looked for ways to assist

          5  our seniors. More than 20 years ago, Morningside

          6  Gardens developed the first program for seniors,

          7  Penn South also recognized the needs of an aging

          8  population, and started a senior center.

          9                 Learning from the example and

         10  experiences of each other, most of our members have

         11  developed their own programs for seniors.

         12                 We find there is no cookie-cutter

         13  model. Each cooperative works out a program that

         14  fits that community and its seniors.

         15                 The NORC program enhances life for

         16  seniors in so many ways, to provide an opportunity

         17  for social interaction and companionship, physical

         18  activity, transportation of shopping centers,

         19  cultural events, or medical facilities.

         20                 Working with social service agencies,

         21  health education, flu shots and so much more.

         22                 It is well known that government

         23  saves money when people remain in their own homes

         24  and stay out of nursing homes. Perhaps even more

         25  important, the quality of life is so much greater
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          2  when seniors remain active and independent.

          3                 Moving is traumatic. It is comforting

          4  to remain in familiar surroundings with the same

          5  friends and neighbors, shopping in the same stores.

          6  I will add, Council Member Reed spoke before of

          7  moving down from three bedrooms to one. When my

          8  mother faced the decision from a two bedroom to a

          9  one and she stayed in a two, I described it as being

         10  able to get from the bedroom to the bathroom at 3:00

         11  in the morning.

         12                 People can live among neighbors of

         13  all ages, instead of being isolated among only other

         14  seniors. It allows people to retain their dignity, a

         15  quality which knows no price tag.

         16                 NORC programs established by CCC

         17  members demonstrate that the value of government

         18  funds can be magnified. Participating cooperatives

         19  contribute their own funds, and foundation funding

         20  is also added in the mix.

         21                 In addition, the volunteer activity

         22  of New Yorkers, both seniors and younger, work to

         23  strengthen the program. Thus, instead of being asked

         24  to carry the whole burden, government becomes a

         25  partner in a strong operation.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 We support the proposal that provides

          3  for the funding of NORC programs, we agree with

          4  others and recommend the 40 percent go for existing

          5  programs and 60 percent for new programs and that

          6  funding be targeted for people of moderate income.

          7                 The experience of our co-ops

          8  demonstrate how much can be done through NORC

          9  programs for seniors.

         10                 Our experience also convinces us that

         11  even more can be done for seniors in existing

         12  programs and for seniors not being served yet by

         13  NORC programs.

         14                 Existing programs can serve as a

         15  model to recreate more programs and enhance life in

         16  New York for many more senior citizens. Results thus

         17  far demonstrate the huge multiplier effect of NORC

         18  programs.

         19                 A relatively moderate amount of

         20  investment on the part of City government can make a

         21  vast difference in the lives of so many New York

         22  City citizens.

         23                 We thank the Committee for its

         24  efforts on behalf of New York's older citizens.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And we thank
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          2  you for your participation and cooperation.

          3                 Council Member Thomas White would

          4  like to ask or make a statement.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: No, make a

          6  statement.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: Okay, making a

          8  statement.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Madame Chair,

         10  you had made a statement that there was going to be

         11  a working committee?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I certainly

         13  did, and I mean it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I would like to

         15  have Rochdale Village represented in terms of its

         16  board.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Most certainly.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You're welcome.

         20  You are its representative, are you not?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes, I am.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: That's what I

         23  thought.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I am talking

         25  about a board member. You said you were going to
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          2  have people come in.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes, I

          4  certainly did, and that is what I mean.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are

          7  welcome, sir.

          8                 Okay, we are going to call up -- I am

          9  going to call two by two because we haven't got four

         10  chairs.

         11                 Sophie Buchholtz from Warbasse, and

         12  Tom Avletti from Warbasse. There are four of you.

         13  Listen, I have got Leon Singer and Mildred Jonas

         14  too, so if the four of you want to take turns

         15  sitting and standing, you are all welcome to come

         16  forward at the same time.

         17                 Okay, the first one gets the chair.

         18                 Okay, will you folks please identify

         19  yourselves.

         20                 MR. AVLETTI: Hi. I represent

         21  Amalgamated Warbasse Houses, which is located in

         22  Brighton Beach, Brooklyn, New York. I am the

         23  Assistant Manager and some of my Board of Directors

         24  are here and I think a majority of --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Stockholders as
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          2  well?

          3                 MR. AVLETTI: Stock holders and

          4  seniors.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          6                 MR. AVLETTI: In a community such as

          7  Warbasse Houses where a majority of the cooperators

          8  are senior citizens, the NORC program has been our

          9  salvation.

         10                 Our cooperators by and large moved

         11  into the community in 1964 when they were

         12  middle-aged. They have aged in place. Many of them

         13  becoming frail and elderly with nowhere to turn for

         14  help.

         15                 We long ago recognized the need to

         16  offer medical and social assistance to these elderly

         17  people, who in many cases were no longer able to

         18  fend for themselves.

         19                 Many had no children or family

         20  available to assist them in their time of

         21  difficulty.

         22                 The management of a development such

         23  as Warbasse, which consists of 2,585 families,

         24  approximately 10,000 people, cannot devote the

         25  necessary time to the necessary social work aspect
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          2  that was required, nor was our management personnel

          3  trained in these areas.

          4                 It became apparent that a program was

          5  essential to the health and welfare of our older

          6  citizens, as well as the community.

          7                 The miracle that happened was the

          8  reality of the NORC program. NORC, Naturally

          9  Occurring Retirement Community. Through the NORC

         10  program we have been able --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: How did it come

         12  to Warbasse? How did NORC come to Warbasse?

         13                 MR. AVLETTI: I am going to get to

         14  that in a little bit.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         16                 MR. AVLETTI: Through the NORC program

         17  we have been able to provide for many of the needs

         18  of the older people that reside in our community.

         19  They participate in exercise programs, parties and

         20  trips, all in the company of their peers. This has

         21  helped to keep these people young at heart, alert

         22  and aware.

         23                 This has helped them to remain part

         24  of the community in which they have lived for the

         25  past 35 years.
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          2                 A nurse is available for blood

          3  pressure monitoring and when called upon to

          4  recommend necessary medical treatment.

          5                 The social workers were called on

          6  daily to intervene when a person is failing in

          7  health and must be properly directed.

          8                 The need is great and increasing

          9  daily. By keeping these elderly people at home, the

         10  various governmental agencies are saving large sums

         11  of money by not placing them into nursing homes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: But you didn't

         13  answer my question yet.

         14                 MR. AVLETTI: Okay, basically the NORC

         15  program came about, I would say from our manager

         16  Rochelle Captan, who was there for 21 years, right

         17  now it is unfortunately she is not here, she is on

         18  vacation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: That's not

         20  unfortunate.

         21                 MR. AVLETTI: Well, I think she would

         22  want to be here, believe me.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         24                 MR. AVLETTI: She worked very closely

         25  with Anita and several other people here, and Nat
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          2  Yalowitz, she worked very hard to get this program

          3  here.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good, okay.

          5                 MR. AVLETTI: Let me just finish off.

          6  Our NORC program, known as Warbasse Cares For

          7  Seniors, is currently servicing over 1,600 older

          8  seniors. The need for a program of this kind does

          9  not exist only at Warbasse, but throughout the City

         10  and probably throughout the country.

         11                 If our senior population is ignored

         12  today, what will become of the rest of us when our

         13  turn comes, and especially I say us, because of my

         14  age.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  testify.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         18                 Introduce yourself, please, by name.

         19                 MS. BUCHHOLTZ: My name is Sophie

         20  Buchholtz.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         22                 MS. BUCHHOLTZ: I am a Board of

         23  Director and member of the Amalgamated Warbasse

         24  Houses in West Brighton and Coney Island. I am also

         25  a volunteer in NORC programs since 1993.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good.

          3                 MS. BUCHHOLTZ: Some of my comments

          4  will be repetitious of --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, try to

          6  limit the repetition because we still have quite a

          7  few people, okay honey?

          8                 MS. BUHHOLTZ: Unpaid rent, neglected

          9  apartments, medical emergencies, these are a sign of

         10  the aging population, and the challenge for the

         11  Board in Warbasse.

         12                 In Warbasse, nearly 60 percent are

         13  seniors. Most want to remain in their apartments, in

         14  the neighborhood they have raised their families in

         15  and known for 35 years.

         16                 As my neighbors age, we realize that

         17  we were unprepared to deal with the growing needs of

         18  our community. Our answer has been Warbasse Cares

         19  for Seniors, which is a NORC supportive service

         20  program. They have provided a mix of health, social

         21  and group services to our community. It has a

         22  full-time staff of eight. Part time personnel care,

         23  help with entitlements, medical problems and social

         24  work. It is available on site. I am personally

         25  gratified that I was instrumental in securing funds
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          2  for a mini van to transport our frail citizens from

          3  building to building so that they can participate in

          4  activities.

          5                 Our five buildings encompass an area

          6  of approximately a quarter of a mile, and Neptune

          7  Avenue becomes wind tunnel during the winter months.

          8  For many of our seniors, getting to programs at the

          9  other end of the complex is difficult. This van has

         10  made a huge difference in improving their quality of

         11  life.

         12                 I am not going to tell you about the

         13  blood pressure because he went through that. People

         14  staying in their apartments longer, living in them

         15  safely, as the partnership with management has

         16  strengthened over the last five years, we have seen

         17  fewer floods, fires and eviction. But as people age

         18  in place, the need for more affordable home care and

         19  home care workers will need greater support and

         20  compensation. For some seniors mobility limits their

         21  access to health care, as well as opportunities for

         22  socialization. We have brought in a geriatric

         23  medical office on site which enhances our compliment

         24  of services. We are proud of the community linkages

         25  we have formed and enhanced the quality of life this
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          2  program has made. We are indeed fortunate to have an

          3  innovative program, like Warbasse Cares, on site,

          4  but we need continued legislation to support

          5  programs such as ours. As the population continues

          6  to grow, we need more supportive services in our

          7  South Brooklyn area and throughout the City. We

          8  sincerely hope that the City will help us meet these

          9  challenges and become a partner in shaping the

         10  future of its elders.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Now, if you

         13  would just wait a minute, Council Member Tracy

         14  Boyland has a question she would like to ask.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you for

         16  coming. Just to make a statement, Madame Chairwoman,

         17  Mr. Nate Yalowitz made a statement about an

         18  intergeneration piece with the young people involved

         19  and what is going on in the community. I feel that

         20  is so important in terms of in the 41st, I know we

         21  try to put together as much as we can to have the

         22  schools integrated doing the grandparents program

         23  within the school, having a more interactive

         24  community where young people can see and learn from

         25  the wisdom of their elders, but what are you doing
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          2  in terms of your sense with younger people?

          3                 MS. BUCHHOLTZ: We have Warbasse

          4  Nursery, and our seniors go there at least one or

          5  two days a week and they participate in different

          6  programs. They had an art program, last year they

          7  made quilts and it really worked out very well, and

          8  they are looking forward to more intergenerational

          9  programs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Definitely,

         11  because I have seen a lot of talent as far as

         12  teaching children music and things of that nature

         13  and how to be more patient and the children have

         14  learned and evolved past that. So, more interaction

         15  is always better.

         16                 MR. BUCCHOLTZ: You know, some of

         17  these children do not have grandparents and some are

         18  handicapped.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: They are

         20  future leaders, also.

         21                 MS. BUCCHOLTZ: So we really look

         22  forward to having the seniors come and spend the

         23  afternoon with them.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Definitely.

         25  Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

          3                 Okay, Madame.

          4                 MS. JONAS: My name is Mildred Jonas,

          5  and I am a member of the Amalgamated Warbasse Houses

          6  Board of Directors. And also a member of the North

          7  Steering Committee. And I will add to the answer to

          8  Sophie's question, the question you gave Sophie. We

          9  are hoping to set up a gardening program, we are

         10  trying to -- we are succeeding in getting a piece of

         11  land that belongs to the Transit and that is not

         12  used, cleared up and we are going to try to have a

         13  garden there, and to have it with whatever age

         14  groups are interested, whether they are teenagers or

         15  whoever. And one idea we are steeling from Penn

         16  South is to have some of the plots at a level where

         17  people can, seniors can work on them without having

         18  to bend. I thought that was such a good idea.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Simple, wasn't

         20  it? Very important.

         21                 MS. JONAS: Yes, many ideas are

         22  simple.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Right. You just

         24  have to stop and think.

         25                 MS. JONAS: Yes. I want to tell you
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          2  about my own personal experience with two facets of

          3  the NORC program.

          4                 My husband, who had been a very

          5  active person, was limited in his physical abilities

          6  during the last several years, but he was started

          7  for social and intellectual stimulation.

          8                 Last summer, our Warbasse Cares NORC

          9  program drove him and others to an all-day boatride

         10  around Manhattan Island, and on other days he

         11  visited the new museum of Jewish Heritage, and the

         12  Museum of Modern Art. And in our own development he

         13  was able to walk to the holiday party with many

         14  other residents. He participated in a discussion

         15  group about the emergency medical service, he

         16  attended a lecture about a short story writer and so

         17  on. His final years were immeasurably enriched by

         18  these programs, to which he otherwise would not have

         19  had access.

         20                 And then in addition, on my very

         21  floor, and there are only seven apartments on the

         22  floor, within the last few weeks, the health of an

         23  elderly neighbor has begun to deteriorate rapidly.

         24  Here eyesight and her hearing are fading. She is a

         25  proud independent lady, but when she fell twice in
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          2  her apartment something had to be done. We called

          3  Warbasse Cares and the nurse and social worker came

          4  promptly to assess the situation. The nurse guarded

          5  her with her routine and medication. She had been so

          6  confused that she had stopped taking them.

          7                 The social worker arranged

          8  immediately to have home health aid to come in for

          9  four hours daily with her doctor's approval. The aid

         10  shops, cooks and makes sure she eats.

         11                 The aid is also in the process of

         12  organizing the mess that she found in the

         13  refrigerator. She had six packages of mozzarella

         14  cheese all getting kind of moldy and in the closets

         15  and in the bedroom. The aid will take her to the

         16  bank and to the doctor and whatever else is needed.

         17                 Our Warbasse Cares nurse and social

         18  worker will follow up with this lady's problems. She

         19  wants to be independent and not to go into a nursing

         20  home. She never married and has no family to help

         21  her.

         22                 Here is a typical example of a need

         23  for financial support for the City for the NORC

         24  program.  Without the help of Warbasse Cares, this

         25  lady would be in a nursing home. After her money ran
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          2  out, the financial burden would fall on Medicaid. As

          3  has been said before, allocating funds for NORC

          4  saved the City millions of dollars in nursing home

          5  costs over the years.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 And last but not least, sir.

          9                 MR. SINGER: My name is Leon Singer

         10  and I have lived at Warbasse for 34 years.

         11                 Five years ago, a wonderful thing

         12  happened at our community, we became a NORC, a

         13  Naturally Occurring Retirement Community, called

         14  Warbasse Cares for Seniors.

         15                 This program has enriched our

         16  community in many ways. We now have a nurse, social

         17  worker and a home care person who helps people who

         18  live in the community. We also now have the use of a

         19  van that helps people get around much easier,

         20  bringing us to doctors' appointments and activities.

         21  If I could go off my script, unfortunately my wife

         22  has been ill, she finds it very difficult getting

         23  around, walking and very often we have the van at

         24  our -- we can call Lisa, and we immediately have the

         25  use of a van which is very helpful to us and I know
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          2  to many others.

          3                 My wife was also hospitalized and it

          4  made it much easier to visit her because of the use

          5  of a van. Then also several weeks ago my wife fell

          6  in the apartment and we called Warbasse Cares for

          7  assistance. The nurse and the social worker

          8  responded immediately getting her the emergency care

          9  she requires.

         10                 We also participate in many of the

         11  social and recreational activities offered at

         12  Warbasse.

         13                 Many of the residents who have found

         14  it difficult to go out now can get to important

         15  appointments and attend informative lectures right

         16  in their development. NORC has been a joy to have at

         17  Warbasse.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: We are very

         19  happy that you took the trouble to come down and

         20  share it with us sir. Thank you very much.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 I want to introduce Council Member

         23  Una Clarke who is here with us from Brooklyn. She is

         24  a member of the Committee and I am glad she is here.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Council Member
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          2  I just want you to know that I was here early for

          3  the hearing on Mental Health and one of the issues

          4  that came up was mental health and seniors, so I was

          5  doing seniors work while I was doing mental work.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are always

          8  doing good work.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are

         12  welcome.

         13                 Beverly Jackson from Stanley Isaacs

         14  from Stanley Isaacs Neighborhood and Ethel Mark from

         15  Co-Op Village Senior Care.

         16                 Okay, would you please introduce

         17  yourself and begin your statement.

         18                 MS. JACKSON:  Sure. I am Beverly

         19  Jackson. I am the Director of Senior Services, at

         20  Stanley Isaacs Neighborhood Center.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: We have seen

         22  you before, haven't we?

         23                 MS. JACKSON: Yes, you have.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         25                 MS. JACKSON: The Isaacs Houses and
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          2  Homes Towers are projects under the auspices of the

          3  New York City Housing Authority, and we and one

          4  other NORC are Housing Authority NORCs so-to-speak.

          5  There are five hi-rise buildings with the total of

          6  1,173 apartments, half of which have senior citizens

          7  at age 60 and above, heads of household.

          8                 The project is located in Yorkville,

          9  it runs from 92nd to 96th streets, First Avenue to

         10  the FDR Drive bordering East Harlem.

         11                 All elderly tenants meet low-income

         12  criteria as defined by the US Department of Housing

         13  and Urban Development. 36 percent are members of

         14  minority groups, there are a large number of elderly

         15  who have aged in, grown more frail and in need of

         16  supportive services in order to remain in their

         17  homes.

         18                 Many moved in when the Isaacs Houses

         19  were first occupied in March 1965. Because public

         20  housing is one of the few low cost options they can

         21  afford, they have remained in the same apartments.

         22  It seems logical that other public housing

         23  developments have a similar phenomenon of an

         24  aging-in population and would be eligible to apply

         25  for funding to provide supportive services.
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          2                 Some of my testimony is repetitive

          3  and I won't repeat what other people have said.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are a doll,

          5  thank you.

          6                 MS. JACKSON: But in terms of   the

          7  Housing Authority and the NORCs that might be

          8  existent there, of course we are one program, we

          9  have worked with the Housing Authority since the

         10  Isaac Center started about 1965 or so, and one of

         11  the first programs that we started was a program

         12  that is kind of a precursor to NORCs, called the

         13  Senior Resident Advisor Program, and we have two

         14  caseworkers, started them and still have two

         15  caseworkers, who live on the premises in rent-free

         16  apartments that are provided in-kind by NYCHA. They

         17  are members of our staff, not NYCHA staff, and

         18  provide the case work that many of the seniors need

         19  to be able to remain in their houses.

         20                 Although we certainly can't speak for

         21  NYCHA, we believe that there are many other housing

         22  developments who also have large numbers of seniors

         23  who might benefit from these supportive services.

         24                 I know there are other resident

         25  advisor programs, the NORC program really expands on
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          2  that. Aside from the fact that the resident advisors

          3  are available to the seniors, basically on a 24-hour

          4  basis, they are in the office from nine to five, but

          5  if there is an emergency after hours or on weekends

          6  or holidays, the seniors can reach them through an

          7  emergency telephone line, and then the person will

          8  call them back, go to their apartment, whatever is

          9  necessary.

         10                 If there is some housing emergency

         11  that occurs, for awhile we had a lot of elevator

         12  problems and the seniors couldn't get to their

         13  apartments, our staff was called and they opened the

         14  senior center so that the seniors would have a place

         15  remain and a couple of times we were open all night

         16  and had cots brought in from the American Red Cross

         17  so that they could be provided for during those

         18  hours of the housing emergency.

         19                 One of our seniors who was going to

         20  accompany me here today is recovering from a

         21  fractured hip and thought that he probably should

         22  not try and come out. But he did ask me to read his

         23  written testimony. And his name is Hal Wenton

         24  Bergune.

         25                 "I regret that I can't join you today
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          2  to tell you in person about the help I have received

          3  from the staff at the Stanley Isaacs Neighborhood

          4  Center, but I am still recovering from a broken hip.

          5  I have lived at 1780 First Avenue, which is the

          6  Homes Towers, since 1989 when a fire occurred in my

          7  previous apartment. Housing suggested I speak with

          8  the senior resident advisor at the Stanley Isaacs

          9  Neighborhood Center to help me get furniture. She

         10  arranged for me to get a bed and a table for my

         11  apartment.

         12                 On a friend's advice, I registered

         13  with the Isaac's senior center shortly after moving

         14  in to socialize with others and to write for the

         15  Center's newsletter which is called The Chronicle.

         16                 Through the years I have become an

         17  active and regular senior center member. I continue

         18  to use my musical talents in performing with the

         19  Season Swingers which is a 30-member chorus that

         20  entertains at Isaacs and other senior centers

         21  hospitals and other organizations.

         22                 I work part-time at the center

         23  carrying trays for disabled members" -- and right

         24  now Hal is disabled too.

         25                 "In December 1998 I fell and
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          2  fractured my hip. I called the Isaac staff from the

          3  hospital, asking that they help me get home with the

          4  equipment I needed. The senior resident advisor,

          5  Jose Humphreys, spoke with the hospital social

          6  worker and together they convinced me that I needed

          7  to remain in the hospital longer and to have a short

          8  period of rehabilitation afterward.

          9                 Mr. Humphreys also helped me get the

         10  medication I needed, arrange for identification to

         11  be replaced that I lost when I fell, and generally

         12  paved the way for me to return home with the

         13  services I need.

         14                 Once we learned that the Home Health

         15  Aid was to be discontinued, Mr. Humphreys

         16  recommended that I accept home-delivered meals,

         17  which I now receive.

         18                 I cannot speak too highly of the

         19  staff at Stanley Isaacs and the marvelous service

         20  they have given me. If one person could not talk to

         21  me when I called, another staff member would fill

         22  in. They said to call them any time of the day or

         23  night through the emergency telephone, if necessary.

         24                 When a person becomes incapacitated

         25  and does not have family who can take care of things
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          2  for them, it is reassuring to know that the staff is

          3  there for you." And it is respectively submitted by

          4  Hal Wenton Bergune.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I have a

          6  question to pose.

          7                 MS. JACKSON: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I have heard

          9  from many different NORCs now, do you folks have any

         10  kind of a coordinated council?

         11                 MS. JACKSON: We have a directors'

         12  NORC group that meets.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Citywide?

         14                 MS. JACKSON: Yes.

         15                 And it includes the upstate people.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay. And how

         17  long have you folks been doing this?

         18                 MS. JACKSON: Since the NORC

         19  legislation -- well, even before the NORC

         20  legislation went into effect.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: In what year?

         22                 MS. JACKSON: '92 --'94. Seems longer.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay. Seems

         24  longer to you, but I am wondering where we were all

         25  this time, in not having kept up with you in terms
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          2  of the development of your NORC groups, which seem

          3  so impressive.

          4                 MS. JACKSON: Yes. Well, I think since

          5  the legislation was, you know, statewide, we were in

          6  a sense concentrating in Albany.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes, where the

          8  money comes from.

          9                 MS. JACKSON: But it is nice to know

         10  that the City Council is supporting this concept.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, you are

         12  our constituents you know, and we are interested in

         13  you. And thank you.

         14                 Now Ms. Mark.

         15                 MS. MARK: Do you hear me?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Very clearly.

         17                 MS. MARK: Good afternoon. My name is

         18  Ethel Mark, and I live in East River Houses, one of

         19  four co-op developments that comprise Co-op Village,

         20  a NORC located on the lower east side of Manhattan.

         21  I moved in as a young woman and have continued to

         22  live here as my neighbors and I evolved into a

         23  naturally recurring retirement community.

         24                 I am in the unique position of being

         25  both a contributor and recipient of NORC services
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          2  provided by Co-Op Village Senior Care.

          3                 As a member of East River Board of

          4  Directors I was able to strongly support the

          5  allocation of co-op funds to initiate the project. I

          6  continue to be an active member of Co-op Village

          7  Senior Care by participating on the Planning Board.

          8                 On the other hand, I also benefit

          9  from CDSC. Surprisingly, I reap the fruits of my own

         10  labor, Co-Op Village Senior Care has provided me

         11  with an opportunity to share my knowledge and talent

         12  as a volunteer when I lead a literary group.

         13                 In addition, I find I widen my own

         14  horizon as a participant in several NORC classes and

         15  special events. From its inception to the present

         16  the programs have continually adapted to meet the

         17  needs of our senior community. Because of Co-Op

         18  Village Senior Care, services that were either

         19  unknown or unavailable to our residents have now

         20  been made attainable and accessible to our

         21  community.

         22                 For example, if we need education on

         23  preventive health care, nursing services, mental

         24  health services or even low impact exercise for our

         25  frailer residents, we know we can call CVSC. What I
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          2  appreciate and enjoy about NORC is that it is easily

          3  accessible and convenient. It would be very

          4  difficult and in some cases impossible for many of

          5  my neighbors to travel out of the community for the

          6  essential services that we receive within our

          7  development.

          8                 I, myself, have recommended many of

          9  my neighbors who are home bound to NORC and they

         10  thrive under the impact that NORC has had in

         11  providing services to buildings where they live.

         12                 Let me tell you about my neighbor Mr.

         13  T.

         14                 Mr. T, 80 years old, spent much of

         15  his time alone in the apartment watching TV. He is

         16  physically frail. I invited him to go down to the

         17  NORC knitting group which meets weekly in his

         18  building. There I noticed that the first time he

         19  came he was introverted and shy. He sat at the far

         20  end of the table. He did express a desire to

         21  participate, but lacked any confidence in his

         22  creative or artistic abilities.

         23                 Mr. T sat quietly and watched as the

         24  rest of us interrelated while producing beautiful

         25  articles of clothing and crafts for children in
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          2  foster care.

          3                 We coaxed Mr. T's participation by

          4  showing him patterns that could easily be made into

          5  toy animals and gently encouraged him to try working

          6  on the project.

          7                 With further encouragement from

          8  members of the group, Mr. T slowly completed his

          9  first attempt. Prodded by compliments from

         10  participants, he began to develop confidence in

         11  himself and actually strengthen talents which he

         12  never realized he possessed.

         13                 Before long he was starting to

         14  respond to greetings from members of the group as he

         15  entered the room. Soon he was initiating salutations

         16  and joining in conversation among participants.

         17                 Now he has established himself as a

         18  contributing member of the group. Mr. T subsequently

         19  joined other activities at CVSC, and now besides his

         20  self confidence he has added structure to his life,

         21  and enjoys ongoing special events which he greatly

         22  anticipates.

         23                 CVSC has truly enhanced his quality

         24  of life. There are many more people within our

         25  housing development like him who have yet to be
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          2  reached, if only we had more funds available, we

          3  could provide many more services and programs and

          4  reach out to many more Mr. T's.

          5                 We appeal to you as members of the

          6  New York City Council to help us and vote in favor

          7  of providing funds for Naturally Occurring

          8  Retirement Communities. Please make sure the

          9  programs which have become so vital to our lives can

         10  grow and flourish.

         11                 Thank you for giving me the

         12  opportunity to appeal to you on behalf of my friends

         13  and neighbors.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, in direct

         15  answer to your plea for funding and support, I want

         16  to indicate to the Assembly here gathered that not

         17  only is the constituency of my Committee on Aging

         18  solely and completely in favor of the project, but

         19  we are about to be honored by an appearance from

         20  Speaker Peter Vallone who wants to come here to

         21  address you because he, too, is an advocate of

         22  NORCs. So, I think you can feel confident that you

         23  have got it all.

         24                 MS. MARK: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You have got it
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          2  all. Thank you.

          3                 As I am told, I won't hold my breath,

          4  I am told that.

          5                 I would like to call on Mary

          6  Thompson, from Morningside Retirement and Mr. Gary

          7  Babad from Clearview to come forward please.

          8                 Okay, ladies first. Go ahead.

          9                 MS. THOMPSON: My name is Mary

         10  Thompson and today I represent the Morningside

         11  Retirement Health Services, a part of the

         12  Morningside Heights Housing Corporation, better

         13  known as Morningside Gardens.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well that's a

         15  long way around.

         16                 MS. THOMPSON: It's a long way around.

         17                 The Morningside Retirement and Health

         18  Services was incorporated in 1966 by a group of

         19  residents, mostly retired social workers, who

         20  recognized that we were becoming a NORC before that

         21  phrase had even been coined.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: That is very

         23  fascinating to me really, that this has been a kind

         24  of spontaneous movement that has evolved

         25  independently of any kind of oversight or
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          2  sponsorship.

          3                 MS. THOMPSON: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And I think it

          5  is very fascinating that it has taken hold.

          6                 MS. THOMPSON: MRHS has always been

          7  controlled by a Board elected from residents of

          8  Morningside Gardens, most of whom are over 65, many

          9  are in their 70s and 80s, so the program is

         10  controlled by the recipients of the program, which

         11  is important.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It is

         13  appropriate.

         14                 MS. THOMPSON: At the beginning the

         15  group secured a grant which made possible a social

         16  worker on the site for a couple of years when our

         17  services began. When the grant ran out, the group

         18  decided to continue the service on a volunteer

         19  basis. People needing help were referred to

         20  appropriate agencies, a buddy system was initiated,

         21  a Tuesday lunch club started and a variety of

         22  educational and social programs developed.

         23                 In the early eighties, those involved

         24  recognized that as our population continued to age

         25  in place and the numbers increased, the program and
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          2  services could no longer be handled by volunteers,

          3  the need was too great.

          4                 With the help of the Brookdale

          5  Institute, a study of the community was done. A

          6  grant was secured, a social worker hired and the

          7  services began to meet the needs.

          8                 With more than half the residents at

          9  Morningside Gardens being over 65, our services had

         10  increased dramatically, the staff has built up to

         11  provide the kinds of help our older residents

         12  require.

         13                 A friend of mine recently said, "I

         14  was planning to move to a retirement center, but I

         15  didn't want to because I loved New York and the

         16  community. Now with the increased services of MRHS,

         17  I can stay here in my home.

         18                 And another friend said, I didn't

         19  know what to do the other day when I came home and

         20  found my wife unconscious from a fall. A call to

         21  MRHS and the nurse and social worker handled

         22  everything quickly, efficiently and with real

         23  caring.

         24                 We have lived up to our mission, to

         25  help older, frail and at risk residents of
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          2  Morningside Gardens remain in their own homes

          3  comfortably, securely and with dignity, and to

          4  develop programs which promote health and provide

          5  opportunities for education, socialization and

          6  recreation for all of the older residents of

          7  Morningside Gardens.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you. I

         10  really want to thank you all for coming here because

         11  this for me has been just as much as an educational

         12  experience as whatever experiences you are deriving

         13  from being here. But I think it is fascinating. I

         14  really marvel at the fact that I have not known

         15  about what has been going on in the field for five,

         16  six years, that's really terrible. It is really

         17  dreadful. But I want to congratulate you for all of

         18  you are doing a fabulous job, and thank you so much

         19  for sharing it with us.

         20                 And now Mr. Babad. You have come from

         21  Clearview which used to be my turf, and now is Mike

         22  Abel's turf. Did you know that?

         23                 MR. BABAD: I did. In fact Mike Abel's

         24  office has been generous enough to provide us with

         25  some Council funding of some member item funding in
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          2  the past for our program.

          3                 My name is Gary Babad. I am a

          4  certified social worker and I direct the Clearview

          5  Assistance Program, otherwise known as CAP, which is

          6  the NORC serving Clearview Garden Cooperative in

          7  Whitestone, Queens. We are one of the four newest

          8  NORC programs.

          9                 The program is sponsored by the

         10  Samuel Field Field YM YWHA of Littleneck. This

         11  garden apartment community is rather unique among

         12  current NORC programs, but the community is typical

         13  of much of Queens, and the sort of communities there

         14  that are in need of NORC programs. I would like

         15  first to describe the Clearview community to give a

         16  brief history of both the community and of our

         17  program. I will then describe what services we

         18  currently provide and finally to indicate some of

         19  the limitations of the program and the unmet needs

         20  of the community.

         21                 Clearview Gardens was established in

         22  the early 1950s, it's a large sprawling garden

         23  department development encompassing 1,800 units and

         24  a population of over 5,000 residents. Of this

         25  population about 60 percent are currently over age
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          2  60, most of these are low and middle income.

          3                 In the 1950s and '60s, Clearview was

          4  a flourishing community of families with young

          5  children, families attracted by the suburban field,

          6  the open spaces, the proximity to other families

          7  without the congestion of the City. It was a

          8  community in the true sense of the word. Children

          9  could play together in the courtyards, the adults

         10  knowing that familiar people would always be around

         11  to supervise.

         12                 There was a community nursery school

         13  on-site. Clearview had ball teams, social groups,

         14  even had a theater. The community was and continues

         15  to be very stable. Many of those who bought as

         16  original owners continue to live there. Children

         17  grew up and moved out, many to other parts of the

         18  country, but the parents remained.

         19                 While some younger families have

         20  moved in, the majority of the population is now

         21  elderly. But the population has not only aged in

         22  place, many residents have been frozen in place. The

         23  very suburban sprawling geography that attracted

         24  them as young families has now virtually imprisoned

         25  many residents who are no longer so mobile
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          2  physically or emotionally. Friends or neighbors who

          3  are right up the street may as well be in another

          4  state because they are no longer accessible. Like

          5  the experience of Tantalites in the old Greek

          6  mythology, the community seems close enough to touch

          7  but is really just out of reach.

          8                 It was the community itself that took

          9  the first steps to help senior citizen residents who

         10  are in need of assistance. In 1994, three Clearview

         11  residents, senior citizens themselves, undertook to

         12  start a volunteer program, CAP. The purpose was to

         13  advise residents of services they were entitled to,

         14  and to provide regular telephone reassurance to

         15  frail isolated seniors. It soon became apparent to

         16  them that despite their dedication and energy the

         17  needs of the community were more than this group

         18  could handle, and professional services were needed.

         19                 In 1996, CAP went to the Samuel Field

         20  Y, a community agency with a recognized track record

         21  of services to seniors, and with Clearview Board of

         22  Directors funding, the Y provided a social worker

         23  three days per week.

         24                 In 1997, a State NORC grant was

         25  secured for $50,000 and the range of services was
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          2  further expanded.

          3                 Currently even with the grant the

          4  paid program staff is small and part time. We are

          5  dependent on a dedicated volunteer force to deliver

          6  many of the program services. The paid staff

          7  consists of a Director of Social Worker three days a

          8  week, myself; transportation coordinator,

          9  administrative assistant four mornings a week, and a

         10  nurse educator two days a month and a professional

         11  exercise instructor three hours per week. A master's

         12    level social work intern is on site two days a

         13  week and we just started an occupational therapy

         14  internship program two days a month.

         15                 The volunteers who are the initial

         16  core of the program continue to provide many of the

         17  services. There is a core group of about 20 resident

         18  volunteers who do initial screenings of new members,

         19  do regular outreach calls to all members to assess

         20  ongoing needs, and the needs are then communicated

         21  to the social worker for follow up.

         22                 A second group of volunteers form a

         23  buddy system who provide regular telephone

         24  reassurance to those in need, to reduce isolation

         25  and loneliness and ensure safety.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 The director of social work

          3  supervises paid and unpaid staff and provides

          4  ongoing training to the volunteers, the social

          5  worker provides residents with counseling, crisis

          6  intervention, information and referral, help with

          7  entitlements, health care advocacy, financial

          8  advocacy and intervention with co-op management when

          9  you need it.

         10                 A nurse educator provided through a

         11  contract with Long Island Jewish Hospital, which a

         12  longstanding relationship with the Y, she provides

         13  information to residents relevant to prevention and

         14  understanding of AIDS-related illnesses, nutrition

         15  counseling, medical management, health screening,

         16  such as an annual health fair and flu shots,

         17  individual resident screenings with health-related

         18  issues, consultation to the social worker regarding

         19  health issues of the residents, and joined home

         20  visits with the social worker where both physical

         21  and emotional needs can be simultaneously addressed.

         22                 Between social work and nursing

         23  services, we estimate we were able to prevent 18

         24  hospital and nursing home stays in 1998.

         25                 Transportation is another major

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  component of our program. The Y provides a bus three

          3  hours a day in order to transport residents to

          4  medical appointments. This has not only saved

          5  residents an enormous amount of their limited funds,

          6  but for some residents it has been their only way of

          7  making an affordable trip to the doctor.

          8                 We also offer exercise classes, given

          9  by a certified physical instructor. We also have a

         10  shopping program coordinated through a volunteer

         11  program with the local high school to provide weekly

         12  shopping to residents.

         13                 We have recently added a volunteer

         14  caregiver respite program allowing residents caring

         15  for an ill spouse to take a break from the pressures

         16  of caregiving.

         17                 We have a discussion group that just

         18  began, led by our social work intern. We have a

         19  series of programs for perspective retirees to cover

         20  topics such as financial planning and legal issues.

         21  And we are now renovating additional space to expand

         22  the program and hoping to add social groups,

         23  exercise classes, computer classes and to make CAP

         24  more of a community center where residents who feel

         25  isolated can come to engage in programs and
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          2  socialize with their neighbors.

          3                 However, comprehensive as our program

          4  sounds there are serious limitations as to the

          5  services that can be provided, and to the resident's

          6  capacity to access these services.

          7                 As a social worker I can potentially

          8  provide a wide range of clinical and concrete

          9  services, but I am only there three days a week and

         10  most of my time is spent on administrative and

         11  supervisory functions.

         12                 It is in fact a full-time job being

         13  attempted in three days. We utilize the volunteers

         14  as much as possible, but professional social work

         15  services essentially have to be rationed, which

         16  necessitates difficult choices on a daily basis.

         17                 The geographical spread of Clearview

         18  also poses limitations. Our transportation system is

         19  well utilized but our bus is budgeted for only three

         20  hours a day and is limited to bringing people to

         21  medical appointments.

         22                 Our exercise programs and groups are

         23  well attended but only by those who can get to them.

         24  The activities are inaccessible to those seniors who

         25  cannot walk far and do not have transportation.
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          2  While we reach out to the isolated seniors with home

          3  visits and phone calls, this does not address their

          4  ongoing needs for socialization, and does not

          5  address the loss of community that they have

          6  experienced.

          7                 The reality is that CAP is a work in

          8  progress. We have grown over the years to try and

          9  meet the needs of this aging in place community.

         10  Even with our State NORC grant we fall short of

         11  truly serving the community's needs. With additional

         12  funding we could have full-time social work

         13  services, be able to provide more ongoing case

         14  management services and be able to respond to

         15  emergency situations.

         16                 This will be of critical help to the

         17  individuals in need.

         18                 In addition, we need to be able to

         19  provide for -- to bring more of this community

         20  together, to truly reduce the isolation that so many

         21  of our residents feel. To this end, we would with

         22  additional funding provide a local shuttle bus for

         23  the community. We could then transport residents as

         24  needed to our offices, groups and other

         25  socialization activities, or even to visit friends
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          2  in the community, friends that they have essentially

          3  been cut off from.

          4                 CAP could become a true community

          5  center, serving all of Clearview, not just the

          6  mobile seniors. We could be the catalyst for a

          7  return to the sense of community that used to exist

          8  but has been lost for so long, and we can better

          9  fulfill our mission of helping seniors remain in

         10  their own homes.

         11                 We urge you to provide this funding,

         12  not just to us at Clearview but to other similar

         13  communities that have been without accessible

         14  services for their frail, isolated seniors.

         15                 Thank you for your interest and your

         16  attention.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Now let me ask

         18  you a question. When we convene this working meeting

         19  to discuss and explore and develop our program

         20  further to be of assistance to you all, who from

         21  your group would be coming? You as a part-time

         22  worker or someone from the volunteer group? I mean,

         23  how would we contact your Clearview group?

         24                 MR. BABAD: Well, you could contact

         25  me. We have a steering committee who are all members
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          2  of the community, members of the Board of Directors,

          3  other very concerned seniors, and I think between

          4  myself and some of these other people, I am sure we

          5  could have somebody who will be willing to come out.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay, very

          7  well.

          8                 Thank you both very much. Thank you.

          9                 MR. YALOWITZ: In response to your

         10  last question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Yes.

         12                 MR. YALOWITZ: I can assure you, Ms.

         13  Harrison, that whatever information you need we will

         14  give you. Whatever meetings you call us to, we will

         15  be there.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I don't want

         17  the whole room full, I need a working group.

         18                 MR. YALOWITZ: You tell us who you

         19  want and where you want us and we will be there.

         20                 We have a network of communication

         21  with all of these programs --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You spook me.

         23  You scare me, it is so good.

         24                 MR. YALOWITZ: You just tell us where

         25  and when.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay. Thank you

          3  Nat.

          4                 Our next two would be Nita Henick and

          5  Rudeane Murray.

          6                 Why don't you stay where you are, you

          7  have the machine, and you can identify yourself. You

          8  know, when you start to speak you can push the

          9  button in, the light goes off and you go on. And why

         10  don't you take the lead, okay?

         11                 MS. HENICK: Thank you, Ms. Harrison.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: My pleasure.

         13                 MS. HENICK: I am delighted to be here

         14  again. The last time I talked about long-term care

         15  was before the Committee on Aging, and now I am

         16  delighted to be here again to speak on a very

         17  important subject, the NORC program.

         18                 What pleases me even more is the fact

         19  that in this program, as in few others, the obvious

         20  functioning and need for social workers is most

         21  apparent. I am a social worker, have been in

         22  long-term care for many years and it has been a

         23  struggle to have others in the community appreciate

         24  the role of a professional social worker.

         25                 This afternoon it has given me great
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          2  pleasure to hear so many case studies where the

          3  social worker was the core person that was

          4  responsible for maintaining the older person in the

          5  community.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And you know

          7  the thing that fascinates me is that social workers,

          8  as far as I know, have never made their presence

          9  felt with the Committee on Aging.

         10                 Social workers who have been employed

         11  in senior centers are certain valuable and we know

         12  they are there, but the folks who have been working

         13  with the NORCs are remarkably either overworked or

         14  otherwise occupied, because I have not been aware of

         15  their existence either.

         16                 MS. HENICK: Well, basically I think

         17  the problem has been because the funding for this

         18  has occurred since 1994, and many of the groups

         19  getting off the ground did not really advertise

         20  themselves, but I will tell you that one of the

         21  reasons that NORC in Queensview and North Queensview

         22  came into existence was because of the case

         23  management problems that the management office did

         24  face so regularly that we knew that so much of her

         25  time was being spent in taking care of problem cases
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          2  of many cooperatives --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, that is

          4  Queensview S, right?

          5                 MS. HENICK: Queensview and Queensview

          6  S, North Queensview.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          8                 MS. HENICK: We sort of have to call

          9  ourselves, we are Queensview and North Queensview.

         10  Both together, in order to apply appropriately for

         11  the NORC State grant.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         13                 MS. HENICK: Okay, I will go on to my

         14  talk, but I did want to comment, and the last thing

         15  I wanted to do, as we have the pleasure and we are

         16  delighted that we are in Peter Vallone's Council

         17  district, and he has been most helpful to us in many

         18  ways.

         19                 Okay, my name is Nita H. Henick. I am

         20  a certified social worker and member of the

         21  accredited certified social work group.

         22                 I have worked as a professional

         23  consultant and volunteer in the field of health

         24  care, long-term care for over 50 years. I am part of

         25  the NORC program at Queensview, North Queensview,
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          2  and have been instrumental in its establishment

          3  almost three years ago. I have chaired a supportive

          4  housing for the elderly grant work group of the now

          5  defunct health systems agency of New York City in

          6  1992. Its recommendations and action plans remain

          7  relevant today.

          8                 The NORC programs, as you know, are

          9  an important part of the umbrella phrase "supportive

         10  housing for the older adults." How can the City

         11  Council use its oversight powers to impact on

         12  expanded services to NORCs? I have three suggestions

         13  to make:

         14                 1) Case management services need to

         15  be expanded. As the older cooperator ages in place,

         16  case management is critical to the health of the

         17  older cooperator, as it is to the cooperative. Case

         18  management implies organizing resources, and working

         19  closely with the older adult, family and significant

         20  others on a variety of social and emotional problems

         21  that impact on the older adult's ability to function

         22  in his or her apartment.

         23                 The City Council can use its

         24  oversight powers to review such funding in its

         25  various committees and work to allocate more monies
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          2  in this area, increasing such allocations can only

          3  help the older adult age in place.

          4                 An educational public information

          5  program needs to be expanded to inform not only the

          6  individual cooperator but his close and/or extended

          7  family on the case management in other social

          8  services offered by the NORC program.

          9                 We have families call our management

         10  office wondering what to do about an elderly family

         11  member who is in need of services but unaware of

         12  this program.

         13                 As one gets older, reading bulletin

         14  boards and/or notices that come under the door can

         15  be a sometimes faint and short life.

         16                 A NORC public education informational

         17  program to the concerned families of our aging in

         18  place cooperators may be a useful outreach program.

         19                 It is anticipated that there will be

         20  over 10,000 cooperators in the NORC program by the

         21  Year 2000, if not more. Such an outreach program is

         22  costly. Perhaps the public education NORC program

         23  can become a separate funding stream. Perhaps this

         24  addition can be suggested by the City Council for

         25  the NORC funding now in the State budget, or
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          2  included in the City budget line under supportive

          3  housing services.

          4                 3) I think that the City Council can

          5  make the greatest impact on expansion of NORC

          6  services by establishing a multi-service City

          7  Council Committee made up of the Council chairs of

          8  Housing, Health, Mental Health, Social Services and

          9  Aging Committees.

         10                 These chairs would be charged with

         11  reviewing NORC and perhaps other supportive service

         12  housing programs and their funding stream. Their

         13  goal would be to provide a resource pool of

         14  information.

         15                 That information can be used to

         16  influence City/State budget to increase the funding

         17  of supportive housing services.

         18                 As you have not heard, but I do know

         19  there is a thought to have home care services for a

         20  marginally middle class cooperative, to find

         21  affordable home care services after Medicare without

         22  getting on Medicaid is extremely difficult to many a

         23  cooperator.

         24                 With cutbacks in home care

         25  reimbursement, creative ways must be found to
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          2  provide needed home care services to our marginal

          3  middle class, NORC members, as well as others in the

          4  community need this particular service.

          5                 Such a multi-service committee can

          6  document existing services, begin a dialogue with

          7  City/State agencies and work toward developing and

          8  funding supportive housing services for our older

          9  adults who want to maintain themselves in their own

         10  Department for as long as they are functioning

         11  citizens.

         12                 It is a formidable task, but one that

         13  can be cost effective and vital to the health and

         14  wellbeing of the large and ever growing part of our

         15  New York City population.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Do you know

         18  what I enjoy about this? What occurs to me is that

         19  the NORC movement is different than simply people

         20  going to senior citizen centers.

         21                 When people go to senior citizen

         22  centers, they take advantage of an offering that is

         23  given to them and they are rather passive accepting

         24  of whatever it is that is given.

         25                 MS. HENICK: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And here the

          3  people who are involved are the ones that are doing

          4  for themselves, which I think is the most

          5  encouraging thing I have seen in a long time, and

          6  gives I think the greater promise for survival of

          7  the movement of the NORCs. And so I think this is a

          8  very splendid, encouraging action.

          9                 MS. HENICK: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: On the part of

         11  the people who are needing it and who are doing it

         12  for themselves, which I think is what we need

         13  anyhow.

         14                 MS. HENICK: Right. And besides the

         15  fact of your Committee, there are so many, as Ms.

         16  Clarke said, that impinge on this same problem,

         17  which affects --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Everything

         19  does. Everything ties in.

         20                 MS. HENICK: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You can't

         22  separate.

         23                 MS. HENICK: So, perhaps the funding

         24  can have real meaning in breaking down the needs of

         25  the NORC and doing it as effectively as possible.
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          2                 Thank you anyhow.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are

          4  welcome.

          5                 And now Ms. Rudeane Murray from up

          6  here. She will speak from here and she will address

          7  the audience.

          8                 MS. MURRAY: Thank you. I am joined

          9  this afternoon by the Director of NORC services at

         10  Amalgamated Park Reservoir, Jessica Gretzel. She is

         11  sitting there. And by Mary Lucumnic, a member of the

         12  advisory board.

         13                 My name is Rudeane Murray, and I am

         14  the Chairperson of the NORC Amalgamated Park

         15  Reservoir Housing in the Bronx. Thank you for

         16  inviting me this afternoon, and for your interest in

         17  now Naturally Occurring Retirement Community.

         18                 For the past four years, we have been

         19  receiving matching funds from New York State for our

         20  work with our retired community, which was

         21  originally over 50 percent of 1,800 units.

         22                 Our interest in community goes back

         23  even further, to our first days in 1927 when the

         24  co-op opened. We have a nursery school and

         25  educational program and we have tendered to the
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          2  needs of our cooperators through our history

          3  together.

          4                 Now we have been turning to the needs

          5  of the aging, with the help of New York State NORC

          6  funds. We support the idea of New York City

          7  supporting senior citizens. We are the hands which

          8  built this City, which worked in this sweatshop,

          9  typed corporate letters, manned the City agency, and

         10  paid its taxes.

         11                 The recognition of our retirement

         12  communities let us know that New York City

         13  appreciates all the hard work, but we need more City

         14  dollars and continuation of state funding to support

         15  this growing group of citizens.

         16                 We know that legislation is being

         17  considered that would provide City funding for NORC,

         18  and we need funding to reach those areas where the

         19  retired are occurring in government funding housing

         20  that are not yet identified as such a community.

         21                 We also need more dollars for these

         22  NORCs which are currently existing. Let me give you

         23  an example of what the State dollar gets you at

         24  Amalgamated Park Reservoir in the Bronx. We have a

         25  two-day-a-week nurse who does health education,
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          2  prevention, health identification problems. Last

          3  year she saw 124 clients, forestalled 13 documented

          4  hospital stays and 18 nursing home placements

          5  through her intervention.

          6                 We also have a social worker who

          7  provides counseling entitlement information, group

          8  work services around problems raising from how to

          9  plan for adult dependent children to grief

         10  counseling over the loss of a significant other.

         11                 Last year the Amalgamated Housing

         12  provided free installation of bathtub grand-bars,

         13  which interested seniors bought at cost through the

         14  Co-op. Through this partnership, how many hospital

         15  and nursing facility placements did we forestall?

         16  Hopefully we will never know.

         17                 Our NORC Advisory Committee works

         18  closely with cooperators to plan future needs. Our

         19  work in creating an Assisted Living Lookalike

         20  program has been supported by the UJA-Federation of

         21  Jewish Philanthropies grant for a needs assessment

         22  study which is being completed now.

         23                 Jewish Home and Hospital and Bronx

         24  Jewish Community Council and Amalgamated Park

         25  Reservoir are working together as they have for four
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          2  years to provide the lowest cost, highest quality

          3  care which cooperators desire.

          4                 Because our housing is scattered over

          5  several blocks, I will have to interject its

          6  uphill/downhill, it is not several blocks. The hills

          7  get higher every night. I say the City raises them

          8  every weekend. But we are scattered --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I have a block

         10  like that, too, in my neighborhood.

         11                 MS. MURRAY: Okay, then you know what

         12  I am talking about.

         13                 Because our housing is scattered over

         14  several blocks, we instituted a program whereby we

         15  visit the lobbies of the housing, providing health

         16  and entitlement screening and enabling us to reach

         17  out to the homebound.

         18                 I must say, we visited half the

         19  buildings, we have 14 buildings, and this has been

         20  very successful. People who we have not been able to

         21  identify come down and visit with the nurse and

         22  social worker.

         23                 We depend upon our twice-a-month

         24  transportation to shopping areas provided by Jewish

         25  Home and Hospital during their Transportation
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          2  Department's downtime, to make it possible for us to

          3  shop for ourselves and keep us in our homes.

          4                 We are one of the most economical and

          5  efficient programs in New York State. Because we

          6  depend upon volunteer abilities of our retirees to

          7  fill the gap.

          8                 We are still a vibrant productive

          9  part of the community. Our oldest NORC member at

         10  Amalgamated is 103. We need your help to keep this

         11  program expanding so that we can break the ceiling

         12  on age.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And we are

         14  going to do it.

         15                 MS. MURRAY: Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: That's

         17  beautiful. Thank you so much.

         18                 Candice Harris and Nancy Miller,

         19  please.

         20                 Nancy, you can start, if you will.

         21                 MS. MILLER: Thank you.

         22                 Good afternoon, and thank you for

         23  this opportunity to testify. My name is Nancy

         24  Miller, and I am the Executive Director of VISIONS,

         25  a not-for-profit agency, promoting the independence
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          2  of 1,500 people annually who are blind and visually

          3  impaired. We help people who don't see well live

          4  like those who do.

          5                 VISIONS is a Citywide rehabilitation

          6  and social service agency, specializing and serving

          7  primarily elders who are blind or visually impaired,

          8  who are of low or limited income, may speak a

          9  language other than English, have multiple

         10  disabilities, and are at high risk for vision loss,

         11  particularly African-American and Hispanic Latino

         12  elders who have a higher risk of diabetes and

         13  glaucoma.

         14                 Forty-nine percent of consumers

         15  served in VISIONS rehabilitation, social service and

         16  volunteer programs are elders who are over the age

         17  of 75, living in all five boroughs of New York City.

         18                 We achieve successful outcomes with

         19  our consumers, due to their hard work, with VISIONS

         20  highly trained specialized staff, state-of-the-art

         21  instruction and technology and with the generous

         22  financial support from City Council Members, the

         23  Borough Presidents of all five boroughs and

         24  contracts with the New York City Department for the

         25  Aging.
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          2                 I offer special thanks to the New

          3  York City Council Aging Committee Chairperson Julia

          4  Harrison, and Aging Committee Council Members, for

          5  their consistent support.

          6                 Currently in New York City there are

          7  an estimated 340,000 elders, aged 60 and older, who

          8  are blind or visually impaired.

          9                 This number is expected to double by

         10  the Year 2030. The incidence of vision loss

         11  increases with age, due to age-related eye diseases,

         12  such as macular degeneration, glaucoma, complex

         13  cataracts and diabetic retinopathy.

         14                 Many of these elders live in NORCs

         15  with specific groups identified in the buildings in

         16  Penn South and on the lower east side. I only

         17  mention those because they have actually approached

         18  VISIONS and asked us to set up groups for their

         19  visually impaired elders. But we provide individual

         20  services in all of the NORCs throughout the City.

         21                 However, funding is not available for

         22  essential environmental modifications and

         23  adaptations for the home environments for elders

         24  with vision impairment. These elders have the

         25  capability for managing independently, in spite of
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          2  vision loss, with appropriate lighting, marked

          3  appliances, and safety fixtures, like grab bars that

          4  are color contrasted with the wall or tile behind.

          5                 New York City seniors can access

          6  minor home repair programs for elders to deal with

          7  weatherization and crime prevention modifications,

          8  fixing locks and repairing windows, but no specific

          9  programs address the modifications needed by

         10  visually impaired elders.

         11                 I suggest that the City Council take

         12  the lead in requesting that DFTA offer a program for

         13  elders with vision impairments that would fund the

         14  assessment and home environmental modifications,

         15  leading to greater levels of independence.

         16                 Such adaptations can make the

         17  difference in whether or not or how much expensive

         18  home care might be needed.

         19                 There is a correlation between

         20  uncorrected vision problems, unadapted environments

         21  and falls. Health and medical costs could be greatly

         22  reduced with relatively low cost environmental

         23  modifications and interventions.

         24                 The social service programs provided

         25  in NORCs don't but should regularly refer elders who
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          2  are blind or visually impaired to rehabilitation

          3  programs offered by VISIONS and the other New York

          4  City VISION rehabilitation agencies.

          5                 These elders are also eligible to

          6  receive assistance with reading mail, getting to

          7  appointments, and shopping from teen and senior

          8  volunteers trained by visions in collaboration with

          9  and partially funded by DFTA. We are pleased that

         10  services for older people, with and without special

         11  needs, have received such a high level of support

         12  and priority from the City Council. We hope this

         13  attention and commitment continues, as the older

         14  population grows and together we design solutions

         15  that address their desire to age in place.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Nancy, this

         18  program will continue.  The Committee on Aging will

         19  continue, as long as term limits allows us to. After

         20  that, we are not responsible for what happens.

         21                 MS. MILLER: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: But for the

         23  next two and a half years you got us, right? Okay.

         24                 Would you now introduce yourself,

         25  please, and then make your statement.
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          2                 MS. HARRIS: Yes. Good afternoon. My

          3  name is Candice Harris. I am the Executive Director

          4  for the Senior Citizens Coordinating Council, Co-Op

          5  City, which is the largest NORC in the country.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And how many

          7  thousands live there?

          8                 MS. HARRIS: About 50,000, 55,000

          9  right now.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You guys are

         11  cities all by yourselves.

         12                 MS. HARRIS: Yes. I have approximately

         13  9,000 seniors over the age of 60 in Co-op.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You can run the

         15  world.

         16                 MS. HARRIS: It is the world sometimes

         17  I think.

         18                 I am here this afternoon on behalf of

         19  the Council of Senior Centers and Services of New

         20  York City. I am a long-time member of the Council,

         21  and a member of the Action Committee.

         22                 The Council asked me to present these

         23  remarks to your committee for consideration.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         25                 MS. HARRIS: The Council of Senior
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          2  Centers and Services, CSCS, would like to thank

          3  members of the City Council for providing CSCS with

          4  an opportunity to testify on behalf of our members

          5  on the need for New York City support in providing

          6  on-site health and social services to NORCs,

          7  Naturally Occurring Retirement Communities.

          8                 We are here to request $4 million in

          9  New York City funds for these important on-site

         10  programs.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I knew I would

         12  hear from you guys.

         13                 MS. HARRIS: Put a number on it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         15                 MS. HARRIS: The Council of Senior

         16  Centers and Services of New York City is the central

         17  organization representing the 335 senior centers and

         18  other community-based services throughout New York

         19  City.

         20                 Our 265 member agencies provide

         21  services to 300,000 older New York City residents,

         22  which include multi-service senior centers,

         23  congregate and home-delivered meals, housing, home

         24  care, case management, adult day services, legal

         25  services, health promotion activities,
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          2  transportation, information and referral for

          3  housing, entitlements and benefits, assistance for

          4  immigrants, intergenerational program, educational

          5  and council activities and opportunities for

          6  volunteerism.

          7                 The average NORC client is 75 years

          8  old or older and lives alone. Nearly 70 percent have

          9  difficulty bathing, toileting and eating.

         10  Eighty-nine percent need help with housework,

         11  shopping and other chores. On-site services at NORCs

         12  currently including visiting nurse, home health

         13  aides, personal care attendants and meal delivery,

         14  as well as collective activities, such as

         15  recreation, educational, and community volunteer

         16  programs, bereavement groups, transportation and

         17  escort services.

         18                 These on-site services can be

         19  provided at low cost because of the ability to meet

         20  the needs of large clusters of individuals, and they

         21  also facilitate coordination and referral to

         22  existing services in the community.

         23                 CSCS supports increasing supportive

         24  services programs at NORCs, because we recognize

         25  that these programs are a crucial and successful

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            119

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  component of the community-based continuum of care

          3  network that enables old New Yorkers to stay in

          4  their apartments, within their own communities, and

          5  retain the dignity, independence and meaningful

          6  quality of life that prevents health deterioration

          7  and premature institutionalization.

          8                 A survey conducted by AARP reported

          9  that 87 percent of all seniors want to stay in their

         10  homes, with neighbors who know them, in their own

         11  communities where they feel comfortable.

         12                 Providing NORC residents with

         13  supportive services just makes good common sense.

         14                 Bringing services to our physically

         15  and mentally frail older New Yorkers, is a human,

         16  cost-effective and successful approach.

         17                 Over 350,000 of New York City's

         18  elderly population reside in buildings or housing

         19  complexes, with senior populations dense enough to

         20  be considered NORCs, and almost half of the 375,000

         21  New York City apartments that were built with

         22  government assistance, can now be considered NORCs.

         23                 We need more than the 12 current

         24  service programs at NORCs, and only two of these are

         25  located in public housing.
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          2                 New York City needs to implement a

          3  program, as well as expand and enhance existing

          4  services. Bringing supportive services to NORCs

          5  works, and we recommend that $4 million be invested

          6  in these very important programs.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You may tell

          9  CSCS that we now have a figure to shoot for in our

         10  budget discussions, right?

         11                 MS. HARRIS: That's a minimum figure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: A minimum

         13  figure, okay.

         14                 MS. HARRIS: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are very

         16  welcome, both of you.

         17                 And I have Council Member Una Clarke

         18  has a statement to read into the record and then I

         19  have one more witness.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         21  much. It is both my pleasure and my privilege to

         22  read the statement of the Speaker of the New York

         23  City Council, as he takes the opportunity to thank

         24  you, Council Member Harrison, Chair of the Committee

         25  on Aging for the leadership that you provide in
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          2  getting better services to the seniors of the City

          3  of New York.

          4                 He says I am pleased to join the

          5  members of the Council Advocate and Department of

          6  the Aging as we move forward to develop Naturally

          7  Occurring Retirement Communities, NORCs.

          8                 Prior to my State of the City, I

          9  introduced the need to develop new NORCs to augment

         10  the services and existing ones.

         11                 I have had a wonderful opportunity to

         12  meet the staff and residents at Penn South and at

         13  Morningside. At my visits I was pleased to see

         14  firsthand the wonderful services and communities

         15  that exist for seniors without having to move them

         16  away from their existing homes.

         17                 We are at a time now where we need to

         18  provide for the growing number of seniors living in

         19  New York City, while allowing them to remain in

         20  their homes and communities. This hearing is an

         21  important step in passing legislation and putting

         22  forth resources in the coming year.

         23                 I look forward to working with you in

         24  the coming months as we provide new services for our

         25  seniors.
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          2                 And, again, the Speaker thanks you

          3  for your leadership.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And thank you

          5  for reading his statement.

          6                 And may I call on Evelyn Jones Rich,

          7  please, to take the stand.

          8                 MS. RICH: Good afternoon.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good afternoon.

         10                 MS. RICH: I don't have a written

         11  statement.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It's quite all

         13  right.

         14                 MS. RICH: But I will present one to

         15  the Committee within a week.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I am Evelyn

         17  Rich, and I live in a Naturally Occurring Retirement

         18  Community called Lincoln House, and we are located

         19  on the west side of Manhattan, at 66th Street and

         20  West End Avenue.

         21                 In 1991, a small group of cooperators

         22  where I live recognized the need for services which

         23  here this afternoon have been characterized as

         24  NORCs. In our community of 420 apartments, 65

         25  percent of the residents are 65 years old or more.
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          2  And since 1991, we have designed a very

          3  comprehensive program of services.

          4                 There are things about our program

          5  however, which are different from the information

          6  which has been presented here this afternoon, and

          7  very briefly I would like to describe them to you.'.

          8                 Let me begin by saying that in the

          9  Year 2000, 37 million Americans will be 65 years old

         10  or more. In the Year 2030, that number will double.

         11  Most of them will be the baby boomers who will then

         12  reach the sixties, so that in the years between 2000

         13  and 2030, our society increasingly will be a society

         14  which will be dominated by older people.

         15                 In that context the NORC services

         16  will be very much needed.

         17                 Speaker after speaker this afternoon,

         18  with few exceptions, have talked about funding

         19  further those NORCs which are already being funded

         20  by New York State.

         21                 I am here to make a plea for those

         22  NORCs which receive no funds at all. Lincoln House

         23  where I live is but one exception of communities

         24  across this City hosting large numbers of seniors,

         25  including myself, which on our own initiatives, fund
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          2  our programs and meet the needs of our neighbors.

          3                 I was particularly taken by the

          4  wonderful testimony of my colleague from the Council

          5  of Senior Centers and Services, because only she and

          6  my colleague from Amalgamated Houses talked about

          7  the need to expand the services of NORCs to those

          8  not currently funded.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: We also had one

         10  other letter written into the minutes by Council

         11  Member Abel.

         12                 MS. RICH: Yes. And then, surprisingly

         13  so, but to my delight, Councilman Vallone also

         14  recognizes that need. And I surely hope that when

         15  the legislation is finally designed, it will be

         16  designed in ways in which we can reach out to those

         17  persons.

         18                 Two final statements.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Sure.

         20                 MS. RICH: One of my colleagues talked

         21  about the low-income housing projects, supported by

         22  the New York City Housing Authority, which hosts

         23  large numbers of seniors.

         24                 It is urgent that NORC programs be

         25  expanded to include seniors in low-income City
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          2  housing projects. They need these services too.

          3                 Finally, I am struck by the absence

          4  of any significant numbers of seniors of color in

          5  the already funded NORC programs.

          6                 This does not mean indeed that there

          7  are none - there are. Nevertheless, across this City

          8  the need among seniors of color for NORC supportive

          9  services is urgent, and I urge you, as leaders in

         10  this Committee, to ensure that they, too, are not

         11  left out.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I am sure we

         14  will.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Council

         16  Member, let me just say to you that I am in many

         17  ways heartened that you did not even write your

         18  statement, because if you were reading from prepared

         19  text I would say she rehearsed it last night. But

         20  recognizing that it came from the heart, I want you

         21  to know that this person of color who sits on this

         22  Committee, and who herself is now aging, will make

         23  sure that there is fair share and that there is

         24  equity. I stand here to be a conscience, but also

         25  because I know Council Member Harrison well enough,
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          2  that once we are able to put money on the table,

          3  that she will not forget any of the communities

          4  where people are aging and need her support and I

          5  will be here to make sure that there is equity, and

          6  you can count on that.

          7                 MS. RICH: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Here here.

          9                 Are there any further witnesses? Does

         10  anybody else want to give any testimony? Oh, yes,

         11  Ma'am. Come on forward. Don't sit in the back, you

         12  will never be heard.

         13                 Identify yourself by name, please.

         14                 MR. FISCHER: Good afternoon, and

         15  thank you for the opportunity. I am not prepared and

         16  I am a novice at that, and I would also like to say

         17  I am Janet Fischer and I am Director of the Vladick

         18  Cares NORC, the other New York City Housing

         19  Authority.

         20                 I came to New York, to NORC in New

         21  York, as a novice, taking over the directorship this

         22  past summer, and I have sort of been laid back and

         23  just observing and learning, but I feel a burning

         24  passion to at least present certain of my

         25  observations.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Wonderful.

          3                 MS. FISCHER: Many people here have

          4  talked about statistics, they have talked about the

          5  needs, the equity, I am not prepared, I don't have

          6  numbers, I don't have maps, but I have humanity

          7  behind me.

          8                 We service a population that is

          9  unique to all NORCs of the lower east side of

         10  Manhattan. Most of the people that we service are

         11  people who not only have the horrendous problems of

         12  aging, they are coupled with problems of poverty,

         13  immigration, AIDS, drugs, abandonment and every

         14  other possible social issue.

         15                 Though our NORC addresses all the

         16  medical and the mental health and the basics, home

         17  care, nutrition, we have horrendous social problems.

         18  We have people who are not just isolated because the

         19  physical inability, but because of emotional

         20  inability, because of life's cruel circumstances. We

         21  have found people, I mean I have been a social

         22  worker for I won't tell you how many years, because

         23  I am also aging in, but we have found people, and I

         24  had thought I saw it all until I came to the NORC in

         25  Vladick Cares, Lower East Side, we have found -- one
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          2  woman, for example, who had not left her apartment

          3  in 20 years. She has a son in California that cares

          4  but can't do much. He comes in once a year and

          5  brings canned goods. The woman has not seen a

          6  doctor. She has horrendous medical problems, home

          7  care problems, nutritional needs. She is entitled to

          8  everything and wants nothing. It took weeks and

          9  weeks of an understaffed group of people, mainly

         10  volunteers, and myself and one case manager, to help

         11  her develop a sense of trust and let us through the

         12  front door. All of a sudden, after months of working

         13  with her, she called and asked can we bring her a

         14  loaf of bread. Now we could bring her home care,

         15  Medicaid, on-site medical evaluation and so forth.

         16                 What I want to say very briefly or

         17  impress upon you is the incredible human need. My

         18  first life as a social worker, the first half of my

         19  life, was in hospitals, acute care and nursing

         20  homes. So I really think I am in a unique position

         21  to compare services on one end of the spectrum and

         22  the other. And I want to tell you, NORC is the most

         23  marvelous thing I have ever seen. It empowers people

         24  to take charge of their life. It gives them a sense

         25  of dignity, of involvement, and control, and it
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          2  helps people to help themselves.

          3                 Earlier I had two seniors with me who

          4  just left. They are part of Vladick, but more

          5  important, they are seniors who went through

          6  horrible tragedies in their life, and yet they are

          7  volunteers in the NORC for NORC. So NORC does things

          8  to help themselves. We have people, we give them

          9  structure, we break the isolation, base of dignity,

         10  but we are giving people the most valuable thing,

         11  the tool to help themselves by helping others. And I

         12  beg you --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Don't ever beg.

         14  Don't ever beg.

         15                 MS. FISCHER: Okay, I won't beg you,

         16  but I implore you --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You may

         18  implore, but don't ever beg.

         19                 MS. FISCHER: Thank you. To fund the

         20  NORC, because there are incredible unmet needs.

         21                 One of my missions is to do outreach,

         22  especially in the Chinese community that is becoming

         23  very big, the immigration Chinese community on the

         24  lower east side.

         25                 On the one hand, even if we can do
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          2  the outreach, which is a difficult task, we don't

          3  even have enough staff to service the people we

          4  have. So, I would love to see the NORCs, not only

          5  respectfully encourage, to grow and to evolve and to

          6  expand and of course other NORCs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Give me your

          8  name again, please.

          9                 MS. FISCHER: My name is Janet

         10  Fischer.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Wait a minute

         12  now.

         13                 MS. FISCHER: F-i-s-c-h-e-r.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: F-i-s-c-h-e-r.

         15                 MS. FISCHER: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay. And your

         17  phone number?

         18                 MS. FISCHER: (212) 227-3455.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: 227-3455, and

         20  you are from Vladick?

         21                 MS. FISCHER: Vladick, and we are a

         22  partnership of the New York

         23  City Housing Authority, and Henry Street Settlement.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay. And I can

         25  reach you at that phone number?
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          2                 MS. FISCHER: Yes. And actually our

          3  NORC program is housed in the senior center, the

          4  Good Companion Senior Center Henry Street.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          6                 MS. FISCHER: And we are sponsored by

          7  Henry Street. And thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

          9  much for coming forward. Thank you.

         10                 Now is there anybody who still wants

         11  to testify? A witness to say anything?

         12                 Hearing none, then I declare the

         13  adjourned hearing, and I thank you all for having

         14  been so patient and so cooperative.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 3:50 p.m.)
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